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About BVT 
BVT was established by George Cadbury in 1900 to 
provide quality housing accommodation on 
affordable terms to those in housing need. Those 
residents who could afford to buy their own homes 
were able to do so, but others were let on rents that 
were within the means of the “labouring and 
working classes”. This philosophy still applies today 
and at the end of 2018, the Group owns 3,296 units 
of accommodation which are let on social housing 
rents to those in housing need. Rent levels are 
set by a government formula, but will tend to be 
around 25% to 50% lower than market rents for 
similar properties. 

BWHS properties were specifically aimed at lower 
paid workers of Cadbury Brothers Limited (now 
known as Mondelez UK Limited). This remains the 
case today with priority given to current employees 
of the company and their families. 

All BVT properties are built and maintained to a high 
standard. Bournville is widely acknowledged as 
one of the first examples of the Garden City 
movement and is today, one of the most desirable 
suburbs of Birmingham. The properties are well 
maintained and BVT employs its own workforce to 
undertake the majority of repairs on our properties. 
This way we can maintain the quality control that 
George Cadbury required as well as ensure our 
tenants benefit from a first-class repairs service. 
Indeed, we regularly score very highly in terms 
of tenant satisfaction for our repairs service. 
Such a commitment to high standard property 
maintenance is true across the whole of the 
BVT’s stock and we have a dedicated workforce 
to support our Telford stock, in the same way we 
service Birmingham. 

Bournville was one of the first examples of a mixed 
tenure community and the Trustees firmly believe 
that this approach has stood the test of time, 
avoiding unfair stigma that the uninformed often 
apply to social housing. BVT is keen to promote 
the mixed tenure model as a sustainable way for 
housing development in the future. 

The Bournville Village Trust Group comprises: - 
• Bournville Village Trust (BVT) 
• Bournville Almshouse Trust (BAT) 
• Bournville Village Developments Ltd (BVD) 
• Bournville Works Housing Society Ltd (BWHS) 

Bournville Village Trust is the parent body, based in 
Bournville, Birmingham. BVT is a charity and a 
Registered Provider (RP). Its principal activities are: - 

i) The Provision of social housing. 
ii)  Management of the Bournville Estate, comprising 

over 7,000 properties, shops, offices, 
schools, community halls and open spaces. 

iii)  Management of over 700 properties in Telford 
and Inner City Birmingham. 

iv)  Providing management and maintenance 
services to a number of registered providers and 

 other organisations. 
v)  Management of around 3,000 acres of 

agricultural land around the South West outskirts 
of Birmingham.

Operating and  
Financial Review
The Trustees of the Bournville Village Trust Group have pleasure in  
submitting their Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year  
ended 31 December 2018. 
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Bournville Almshouse Trust is also a charitable 
provider of social housing based in Bournville, 
Birmingham. BAT manages 97 properties in total, 33 
of which are Almshouses, preferential status is 
given to retired employees of Cadbury’s, seeking 
tenancies. The remaining 64 properties are 
Endowment Houses, surpluses from which help to 
support the contributions made by the residents of 
the Almshouses. BAT is accounted for as a restricted 
reserve within the BVT financial statements.
 
Bournville Village Developments Ltd is a company 
that is co-ordinating the development of a new 
urban village at Lightmoor in Telford. This village 
is being jointly developed and funded by Homes 
England (formerly the Homes and Communities 
Agency). When the village is completed, it is 
expected to comprise around 1000 properties (25% 
of which are to be let on an affordable basis), a 
primary school with community hall, shops and 
areas of open space. The first four phases are now 
complete, from a six phase total project, with BVT 
currently owning 228 properties. A new school was 
completed in 2010 and is run by the Borough of 
Telford & Wrekin whilst BVT is responsible for running 
the community facilities which are an integral part 
of the school. The Village Centre also includes an 
office utilised by BVT and 4 commercial units. 

BWHS is a Registered Provider owning 313 properties 
in Bournville. The Trustees of BVT are also the 
Trustees of BWHS. 

Our Vision and Mission 
Bournville Village Trust has a very long history that is 
steeped in a reputation for high quality housing, 
community development and estate management 
services. Sustaining this level of quality whilst 
providing real value for money is never easy and 
the environment we work in is constantly changing. 

To continue to thrive as a housing organisation we 
must continually look ahead with a sharp focus on 
delivering value for money, understanding the 
trends and responding to the external factors that 
will shape our organisation and our customers’ 
needs and expectations in the future and move 
swiftly to prepare for what is to come. 

Our vision and corporate aims guide our actions 
and they are supported by our new ‘Great BVT 
Services’ continuous improvement framework. 

With our focus on value for money and delivering 
high quality services, the mission for BVT continues 
to be: 

To create and sustain flourishIng communities 
where people choose to live. 

Our Values 
We have a clear set of values that underpin our 
work and define exactly what we are about. We are: 

1. Passionate about people 
We invest in our communities. We work with 
customers to develop services that meet their 
needs and support them to flourish. 

2. Dedicated to distinctive development 
We develop new and sustainable homes and 
communities and encourage better development 
and planning elsewhere. 

3. Committed to quality 
We deliver high quality homes and services that 
provide excellent value for money and help to 
improve and maintain communities. 

4. Proud of our heritage 
We are proud of our unique heritage but we don’t 
stand still. Our experience informs the services that 
we provide today. 

Our Key Strategic Objectives 

This is how we seek to turn our values into action.

1)  Providing customer-focused housing, and related 
core services, that deliver value for money whilst 
ensuring that quality is maintained. 

2)  Building successful and sustainable communities 
by completing homes already under  
construction, and considering opportunities to 
develop within the constraints of our Business 
Plan, and with a key focus on managing risk. 

3)  Improving efficiency, productivity and value for 
money across the organisation. 

4)  Continuing to deliver the range of community 
services rooted in our legacy and involve 
residents in shaping and strengthening these 
services. 

5)  Managing our wide range of assets within the 
constraints of our Business Plan, whilst ensuring 
that quality of service delivery is not prejudiced 

6)  Maintaining robust governance, scrutiny and 
risk management arrangements that meet our 
regulatory requirements. 

More information on our mission can be found in 
our 2018-2021 business plan. 

The Trustees of BVT would wish all interested parties 
to be aware that in late 2018 BVT launched a root 
and branch strategic review, which will involve 
all our stakeholders in redefining our aim and 
developing a new corporate plan for BVT that will 
carry us forward for the next 20 to 30 years. This 
means we can not be as specific about some of 
our long term future targets in these accounts, 
as we would traditionally be. Clearly we are not 
standing still during this strategic review and we will 
be clear on some identified aims in our 2019 Annual 
Plan, but with 2019 being a year for all to feed into 
the future plans of BVT, it would not be appropraite 
to commit to hard targets in many areas, as we are 
open to options for the best future course for BVT. 

Summary of Financial Performance 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income for the 
year ended 31st December 2018, shows a group 
surplus of £4,139,000 compared to a group surplus 
of £4,644,000 for 2017. The main issues to note 
are: - 

•   Under the accounting requirements, the Group 
now has to account for the fair value of its 
portfolio of interest rate hedging instruments. 
Details of these hedging instruments are set out  
in note 16. The movement in the fair value of these 
hedging instruments over the course of the year 
is reflected in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. The movement for 2018 was a positive 
value of £2.44m compared to a positive 
movement of £1.81 m for 2017. Such movements 
reflect the changing market expectations 
regarding future interest rates. Generally speaking, 
when expectations are that interest rates will 
increase, this will reduce the fair value of our 
portfolio of interest rates hedging instruments. 

•  In 2018 BVT recognised an impairment against the 
value of the land we hold on the College Green 
Site in Bournville. This site was originally going to 
be developed directly by BVT, but Trustees have 
now opted to sell the site on a long lease to a 
developer, who will build and  operate the Health 
and Wellbeing Centre on the site. This means it 
was not appropriate for  BVT to hold the land at a 
value above the values we expect to sell the lease 
for. To correct this we have impaired the value of 
the land by £576,000 (see Note 5). 

•  Also in 2018 we recognised that depreciation 
against a Care Home BVT lease to a care  provider 
in Shropshire was not being accounted for 
over the life of the lease, but had in fact been 
mistakenly treated as an owned property.  
To correct this we increased our depreciation  
by £533,000 

•  In 2018 BVT sold one of our Farms as it was 
deemed by Trustees to fall outside our core asset 
base. BVT received an income of £750,000 (see 
note 5a)
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Treasury  Management 
Trustees have approved a Treasury Policy which 
sets out the key treasury management policies 
and practices for the Group . This Policy was 
completely  refreshed  during 2018 and set clear 
guidelines for BVT on all Treasury matters. 

The Group has total housing loans of £97.5 million at 
the end of 2018, compared to £101m at 
the end of 2017. BVT also has further available 
facilities in place of £18.5m. These funding facilities 
will be sufficient to fund the group’s current 
business plan through to completion. There will be a 
need to refinance some maturing loans in 2022, the 
facilities for which BVT will get in place in 2020.  
Any further funding  requirements will only be 
identified on the outcome of the current strategic 
review and its associated development and 
investment plans. 

BVT uses stand-alone interest rate derivatives to 
manage the interest risk on the loan portfolio, 
having secured the required wider-range powers 
from our Regulator. All interest rate derivatives are 
authorised by the Finance Committee, in line with 
the overall strategy which is to hedge at least 1/2 
of the portfolio, with the overall level of hedging to 
be at a level that best supports the delivery of 
the BVT Business Plan. 

As at 31 December 2018 the balance of the loan 
portfolio was 77% hedged/fixed and 23% unhedged. 

Our Treasury Policy requires that adequate funds 
are available at all times to enable the BVT to meet 
its business and service objectives for at least the 
following 24 months. BVT utilise external Treasury 
Management support and advice to ensure we 
offer the best value for money possible in our 
Treasury Management. 

• Cash flow Management
  Cash flows for the period are set out in the 

Statement of Cash Flows in the financial 
statements. The Group has a strong cash inflow 
from operating activities. This is used to service 
the interest payments on the loans that have 
been taken out and also to partly fund the capital 
improvement programme. The balance of the 
capital improvement programme, as well as 
the development programme, are funded from 
capital receipts and loans. 

• Covenants 
  All loan covenants were met and our 30 year 

financial  forecast demonstrates that BVT can 
meet all future covenant requirements. 

3  Interest Cover on our tightest measure was 185% 
which exceeds the 140% target. 

3  Gearing was 54% against a maximum level of  
65% (please note this calculation is different to 
the Gearing calculation required by the sector 
score card shown later in these accounts) 

3  Debt per unit was £28,711 per unit against a 
maximum of £35,426.

Operational Performance 

Housing Management 
BVT offers advice whenever we can to our residents, 
or at least to refer them on to another agency that 
may be better placed to help them. Perhaps 
the best example of this is when trying to help 
our tenants to pay their rent, which, for some, 
has become more difficult as a result of the 
introduction of the spare room subsidy, commonly 
referred to as the bedroom tax and the roll out of 
Universal Credit. BVT has increased staffing levels 
so that we advise tenants on which benefits they 
may be eligible to claim in order to help them 
pay their rent, which is an important element in 
maintaining their tenancy. For the more vulnerable 
tenants, we help them complete application forms 
for various forms of financial support, including 
charitable donations which has proven to be 
extremely successful and has helped tenants who 
might otherwise have lost their homes as a result 
of the benefit changes. We work with all potential 
tenants to ensure they can afford to live in one of 
our homes and provide budgeting skills, advice and 
signpost to organisations to assist in education and 
workplace opportunities. Trustees recognise that 
further welfare benefit changes may impact on our 
Tenants ability to pay their rent and other bills and 
we are looking at how we can further enhance our 
support. 

Community Engagement and Support 

BVT provides a range of community facilities for our 
residents, including schools, shops, community 
halls, scout huts, leisure facilities, parks, other open 
spaces and a museum. These facilities are part of 
the vision of George Cadbury to provide residents 
with “dwellings with gardens and open spaces to 
be enjoyed therewith and by giving them facilities, 
should the Trustees think it desirable to do so, for 
purchasing or acquiring the necessaries of life”. We 
therefore see our remit as wider than most housing 
associations in terms of providing community 
facilities in addition to the houses themselves, 
taking the view that this is a key element of what 
our Founder wanted BVT to do. 

BVT recognise that services and support networks 
are often best run by the community themselves, 
so  we seek to be an enabler and support provider 
to such community groups. 

Examples of our Community Involvement Include: 

•  Supporting the successful Busy Parent Network, 
who run a number of events subsidised by BVT. 

•  Promoting digital inclusion, through training and 
partnering with other local organisations and 
volunteers to provide drop in sessions where 
residents can get digital advice and support. 

•   Our community halls and facilities in Birmingham 
and Shropshire are important focal points within 
our communities, providing a wide range of 
services including a play group, health & fitness 
classes, educational and social activities. They 
help build a sense of local community, tackle 
social isolation, particularly for our older residents, 
and promote health and well-being. 

•  Volunteering opportunities are available through 
our local groups. For example, many community 
assets are run by volunteers and locally there is 
a wide range of large community events that are 
planned and delivered by volunteers, for example 
summer, bonfire and Christmas festivals, heritage 
open days, open garden days etc. 

Resident Involvement 

BVT is committed to Resident involvement and we 
are proud of the role residents from across our 
localities are playing in shaping our future direction, 
by being part of our ongoing strategic review. 

One objective set for the Resident Involvement 
Team in 2017 was to recruit additional residents to 
the Estate Management & Scheme Committee and 
the Housing & Community Services Committee in 
2018 and this they delivered successfully.
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Working with Younger People 

A range of community organisations deliver youth 
services locally and the Trust acts as an enabler 
and supporter. We have recognised the need to 
support community organisations in developing 
their skills and competences in providing 
youth services, so are currently exploring the 
development and delivery of a youth work  
training programme. 

BVT also runs The Holdings. This is a specially 
designed service that provides a stepping stone for 
young people aged 16 to 18 making the transition 
from local authority care to independent living. It 
consists of 9 self-contained flats and office 
accommodation. In 2018, a total of 19 young people 
benefited from the service, which is seen as an 
exemplar of good practice within the city of 
Birmingham. 

Supporting Older People 

In 2018, BVT spent £73,000 on equipment and 
adaptations to our properties with the specific 
aim of helping elderly residents to maintain 
independent living within their homes, through 
the provision of grab rails, stair lifts, level access 
showers and other adaptations. 

For those residents who are unable to continue 
to live in their own home, BVT offers a range of 
different options. We have 3 sheltered schemes for 
those who can live reasonably independently, but 
have the benefit of a Community Support Manager 
to call upon if needed. For those with greater 
support needs, we currently have one BVT owned 
extra care scheme, Bournville House, which offers 
various levels of care and support to its 59 residents 
and also own 44 apartments for social rent within 
the ExtraCare Charitable Trust Scheme, Bournville 
Gardens in the Bournville care village. We have a 
44 bed residential/nursing home, Selly Wood House, 
which offers nursing and end of life care as well as 
a home for 5 adults with learning disabilities who 
effectively need 24/7 care and support. 

Development 

In 2018 BVT continued with the fourth phase of 
the six phase development in Lightmoor. This saw 
just 13 new socially rented homes move to BVT’s 
ownership, but the development continues at a 
pace and more new homes will come to BVT in  
2019 and the years to come. 
 
BVT also took ownership of 5 socially rented homes 
at the Manor House development in Bournville, with 
15 shared ownership homes well under way to be 
delivered in 2019. 

Our Value for Money Strategy

BVT recognises its responsibility to achieve Value 
for Money (VFM) from all its activities, in order to  
provide all our customers with the highest possible 
level of service at the most cost-effective price. This  
means BVT seeks to keep value for money at the 
forefront of our thoughts and activities in all we do  
and it remains a standard agenda item for all team 
meetings. We recognise that VFM is not just about 
cutting costs, but is about the balance between 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness. It’s about: - 

•  Procuring goods and services as economically as 
possible, whilst ensuring that the quality of  those 
goods and services meets our expectations and 
ensures our tenants safety is maintained. Also, 
allowing managers to consider factors such as 
preference to local suppliers in determining their 
procurement choices. 

•  Examining how we work and whether that can be 
done more efficiently either through simplifying 
our working practices or making better use of new 
technology. 

•    Delivering community services through our 
partners, recognising that not all services need 
to be delivered directly by BVT, but enabling and 
signposting to existing services or helping support 
new services get off the ground.

•  Reviewing the feedback from our customers to 
see how effective our services are in meeting their 
needs and constantly looking at how we can do 
more to improve or expand those services. 

The main methods that Trustees use to assess VFM 
across BVT are as follows:- 

•  Scrutinising the draft budgets and business plans, 
ensuring that such budgets and business plans 
meet key financial targets as well as deliver a 
reasonable level of headroom against funding 
covenants. 

•  Setting the relevant key financial targets and 
updating these as necessary to reflect changing 
market and economic conditions. 

•  Reviewing all major capital investment decisions 
and considering the subsequent benefits 
realisation reports to check that the anticipated 
benefits have been delivered. 

•  Reviewing benchmarking data. This benchmarking 
data now includes the Sector Score Card (covered 
in detail later in this report), which the Trustees of 
BVT found very useful in addressing all aspects of 
our core business and in challenging ourselves to 
demonstrate VFM. 

•  Considering organisational change. The Trustees 
regularly consider organisational change and 
whilst there is currently no appetite for a merger, 
as Trustees have not identified how doing so 
would further our aims and objectives, this will 
remain an open topic of discussion. BVT will always 
consider any approach for merger where synergy 
can be found and clear value match is in place. 
In all aspects of service delivery BVT Trustees 
consider how and who is best placed to deliver, 
and this will be particularly important this year as 
part of our strategic review. 

•  Trustees have previously considered and continue 
to consider through the various Committees the 
value and risk of those activities outside our social 
housing core, and these will be considered further 
as part of our strategic review. 

Value for Money Objectives in 2018 

The Trustees identified that 2018 was a year for 
building the value for money foundations on which 
we could build once we have completed our 
strategic review. 

The Trustees required that BVT find a way to 
accommodate the lost income from rent 
reductions, the additional cost of pension changes 
and the costs associated with the improvement 
programmes in our asset management and 
responsive repairs areas. The Trustees required that 
this was achieved, with no impact on service quality 
and was delivered alongside their stated objective 
of working towards an increase in our annual 
budgeted surplus of £2m. 

In setting the 2019 budget BVT had delivered 
value for money achievements that allowed us 
to accommodate the rent reductions, increased 
pension costs, planned spend on improvement 
programmes and to set a budget with an 
increased surplus of £300,000 on the 2017 surplus. 

Some Specific Value for Money  
Achievements in 2018 

Procurement 
Whilst conducting our strategic review BVT have 
focussed on driving value for money in areas that 
would not pre-empt our future plans emerging. 
Procurement is a good example of this. In March 
2018 we brought in a dedicated Procurement 
Manager to work as part of the Finance Team, with 
the clear instruction from Trustees that the post 
holder must produce savings well in excess of their 
salary costs.
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By 31st December 2018 we had addressed 50 
procurement tenders, with a value of £1 ,442,770. 
These included, gas, lifting equipment, stationery, 
agency spend, mobile phones, cleaning, fire alarms 
and many more. Through this exercise a saving of 
£405,286 against renewal prices was achieved, as 
well as a significant advancement of assurance 
that best practice is being applied in all areas. 
Whilst not every saving flows through to future 
years evenly, we have established that the savings 
over 3 years from these 50 activities alone will be 
£940,554. 

As we move through our restructure of our 
responsive and planned repairs, we anticipate our 
procurement savings to grow considerably. 

Working Differently 
The Trustees have recognised that value for money 
can often be achieved by working in new ways and 
this has manifested itself in a wide range of 
changes. 

Flexible Working -working with its employee 
consultative committee, BVT introduced flexible 
working. This has allowed us to avoid overtime 
costs, whilst allowing employees to better control 
their work-life balance. It has also given us more 
flexibility to meet the needs of our stakeholders by 
employees being available through a far greater 
period of the day. 

Partnerships 
BVT continues to grow its partnership working, 
whether that is to better support its elderly 
community, its residents with disabilities, offer 
better support to those affected by homelessness 
or to harness expertise in a field that it has limited 
experience. An example of this is the decision to 
meet a strategic goal to deliver a fantastic new 
Health and Wellbeing facility to Bournville. Here  
Trustees revised their longstanding plan to develop 
and run the centre ourselves in favour of tendering  
for an experienced partner. This will help us deliver 
the facility quicker, save on considerable borrowing 
costs and allow a significant cash inflow to BVT that 
can be used to further its strategic aims in areas 
where it holds genuine expertise. 

Working with Tenants and Residents 
Trustees are keen to see tenants play a role in  
the VFM agenda. BVT has a Scrutiny Panel that 
reviews services and looks at where efficiencies 
can be made. 

In 2018 the Scrutiny Panel did extensive work on 
BVT’s Commercial Portfolio, recommending ways in 
which BVT could help shopkeepers maintain footfall, 
how BVT could maintain diversity and interest in 
its shopping parades and how communities could 
continue to benefit from local services. This work will 
inform our strategic plan and has already spurred 
action to keep tenancy levels up through increased 
engagement with commercial tenants. 

The Scrutiny Panel also assisted BVT with a response 
to the Housing Green paper and in November 2018 
started a project on a Voids Standard, which will 
complete in 2019. 

Asset Management 
In lieu of our new asset management strategy that 
is currently being developed, BVT continued with its 
strategy of divesting any properties that fell outside 
its core business areas as it became financial 
beneficial to do so. This saw BVT sell, at a surplus, 
some properties that had been leased to local 
authority care home providers in the Telford area 
as leases came to an end. 

BVT also continued with a temporary pause on 
aspects of its planned maintenance/improvement 
programme in anticipation of its strategic review 
and while it put in place new management 
structures. This ensured that no money was wasted 
in spending on assets that will not be core in future 
or in enacting elements of modernisation that will 
be overtaken by future programmes. 

Responsive Repairs 
In 2018, BVT continued with the overhaul of its 
responsive repairs’ directorate. This continues into 
2019. The outsourcing of material stores provision 
should see a 20% reduction in material costs, 
based on an existing price verses framework price 
analysis.

Value for Money Objectives in 2019 

Value for money will remain at the forefront of 
Trustee considerations and the thoughts of all 
Officers in BVT. As we work through a strategic 
review, all aspects will be considered for their 
inherent value for money and from the view point 
of designing all new activities and redesigning all 
existing activities to have value for money built in. 

In 2019 BVT will; 
• Develop and deploy an updated VfM policy. 
• Continue to focus on procurement improvement. 
• Continue to work on responsive repair costs. 
•  Continue the improvement programme on asset 

management.

C
on

so
lid

at
ed

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts

10 11



Sector Scorecard

The table below is known as the “Sector Scorecard”, 
an initiative to benchmark Housing Associations 
performance using 15 measures that are 
specifically required to be published annually. BVT 
welcomes this initiative and whilst this is our first 
year using these measures the Trustees have found 
the exercise insightful and are committed to using 
these and other measures to assist in improving 
our future performance. 

BVT Trustees understand that the unique nature 
of BVT and the wide range of activities we do, 
from housing, to agricultural estates, to museum 
activities and historic buildings, does make some 
simple benchmarks harder to interpret, but we are 
committed to ensuring they help us drive our value 
for money agenda. 

Other Value for Money Metrics 

BVT uses over 130 monthly key performance 
indicators (KPI’s) which are reviewed by the 
Executive Team to monitor performance and to 
drive VfM. We believe all of these indicators are 
important metrics, but the following are a sample 
of those which Trustees are focused on. (See table 
below). 

Overheads as a percentage of total turnover - 
BVT offers much more than housing, so Trustees 
are constantly vigilant of our total overhead 
costs against our total income. We believe that 
our community activities, agricultural estates, 
commercial property and other non-housing 
activities bring great benefits, but Trustees will not 
accept this being at the expense of our housing 
work. Here we can see that BVT is below the 
average of our Peers, which reflects positively on 
our management. 

Average time to re-let - Trustees recognise that 
BVT success in offering quality housing means 
that many of our tenancies last decades. We 
are proud that people choose to build their lives 
in our communities and homes. This does often 
mean that homes need modernisation as they are 
returned to BVT at the end of a tenancy, as older 
tenants often choose not to accept more extensive 
work on their homes, in their later years. This means 

Trustees are focused on monitoring our re-let times 
and looking at how best to manage this process. 
Here we can see that BVT performs better than the 
mean performance of our Peers, 2017, with the 2018 
figure being worked on at present. 

Average Time to answer inbound calls - BVT is 
committed to great customer service. One very 
obvious aspect of this is answering our customers 
calls quickly, so they can get their questions 
answered and move on with their busy lives. We 
can see that in 2017 BVT performed much better 
than our peers in answering calls quickly. However, 
BVT recognised that getting any issues dealt with 
first time, without being passed on was more 
important to most of our customers than a very 
quick call answer. This means in 2018 our focus 
shifted, but we will be using this benchmark and 
customer feedback to help us get the right balance. 

Staff Turnover - Trustees recognise that staff are 
our biggest asset and a sizeable cost. They are, 
therefore, committed to maintaining a well-trained, 
experienced and committed workforce. Here we 
can see that BVT staff turnover is below that of our 
Peers. 

Staff Sickness - BVT wants to offer consistency 
and cost effectiveness to our customers. We also 
want to ensure our staff are happy and healthy 
and have a range of programmes in place to help 
promote wellbeing amongst staff. One way of 
seeking to measure this is to look at sickness rates 
against our Peers. Here we see BVT performs better 
than average in 2017, although our performance 
worsened slightly in 2018.

1  EBITDA MRI (as % interest) VFM metric - [Operating surplus / (deficit) - 
(overall) - Gain/(Ioss) on disposal of fixed assets (housing properties) 
- Amortised government grant - Grant taken to income + Interest 
receivable and other income - Capitalised major repairs expenditure 
for period + Total depreciation charge) Divided by [Capitalised interest 
in housing properties + Interest payable and financing costs 

2  Gearing = (Net debt+ Carrying value of housing properties) x 100. 
Where Net Debt = [Short-term loans + Long term loans· Cash and cash 
equivalents + Amounts owed to group undertakings + Finance lease 
obligations). Where Carrying value of housing properties = [Tangible 
fixed assets: Housing properties at cost (Period end) / Tangible fixed 
assets: Housing properties at valuation (Period end)] 

3  Reinvestment - [Properties Acquired (total housing properties) + 
Development of new properties (total housing properties) + Works to 
Existing (total housing properties) + Capitalised Interest (total housing 
properties) + Schemes completed (total housing properties)] Divided 
by [Housing properties at cost (Period end) + Housing properties at 
valuation (Period end 

4  Return on Capital Employed = (A .;- B) x 100. Where A Return [Operating 
surplus / (deficit) (overall) including gain / (loss) on disposal of fixed 
assets (housing properties) + Share of operating surplus/(deficit) in 
joint ventures or associates) and B =Capital employed [Total fixed 
assets + Total current assets- Current liabilities) 

BVT have chosen to benchmark themselves against the PlaceShapers 
Group of Housing associations. This gives us over 100 Peers who are also 
committed to building communities and not simply houses.

 BVT Group BVT Group Peer Group
 2018 2017 2017

Business Health  
Operating Margin  18%  22%  30% 
Operating Margin - social housing lettings  31%  29%  29% 
EBITDA MRI% Interest Cover (1) 144%  139%  206% 
Staff sickness levels (days per employee)  9 days  8 days  9 days

Development -capacity and supply 
New social housing supply as % of units owned  0.50%  0.12%  1.11 %  
New non-social housing units developed  
as a % of units owned  0%  0%  0% 
Gearing  63%  63%  41%

Outcomes Delivered 
Resident satisfaction  Not Yet Available  92%  86% 
Reinvestment %  3.05%  3.05%  6.29% 
Investment in Communities (spend in year)  £519,000  £522,000  £254,887

Effective Asset Management 
Return on capital employed  3%  4%  5% 
Occupancy  100%  99%  99% 
Ratio of responsive repairs to planned  
maintenance  0.98%  0.73%  0.61%

Operatlng Efficiencies 
Headline social housing cost per unit  
(spend in year)  £3,893  £4,003  £3,235 
Rent Collected  101%  101%  100% 
Overheads as a % of turnover  7%  11%  12%  BVT Group BVT Group Peer Group

 2018 2017 2017

Overheads as a % of turnover  7%  11%  12%
Average re-let time (days)  TBC  18  25 
Average seconds to answer inbound calls  78  16  37 
Staff Turnover  13%  11%  17% 
Staff sickness levels (days per employee)  9 days  8 days  9 days
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Areas for Improvement 

The Trustees for BVT are committed to improving 
our ability to measure the performance of our 
assets and to reducing our day to day repair costs, 
as two specific projects in 2019. 

These projects will cause costs to rise initially, 
but reduce over time. Trustees will, therefore, be 
using these metrics and many other measures 
to manage these projects and ensure they are 
successful. These metrics include the following for 
responsive repairs. (See diagram below).

Total maintenance cost per unit: 

BVT Group 2018                                                           £1,101 

 
BVT Group 2017                                                           £1,165 

 
Peer Group 2017                                                          £1,010
 

Here we can see that BVT is more costly than our 
peers in delivering responsive repairs and repairs in 
general. We recognise that an element of this is the 
age of some of our historic housing stock. We are, 
however, less expensive on management of repairs. 
We believe by investing in management and 
oversight of repairs we can reduce costs per repair 
and offer a better value for money service over all. 
In 2018, BVT started an important updated review 
of our Asset Performance. We are investing heavily 
in software and data to ensure that, as part of our 
strategic review, we have excellent analysis of our 
asset performance available across all our assets. 
This is very much building on the long-standing 
asset review that BVT has been undertaking for 
some years. The desire to sharpen our focus on our 
core business saw some properties transferred to 
another Registered Provider in 2017. The new data 
we develop from our renewed investment in Asset 
Management will help inform decisions that derive 
from our strategic review, which will be worked on 
through 2019. This review means BVT will not take 
any radical decisions on property holdings, until the 
needs and aspirations of our stakeholders are clear 
in a revised strategic direction for BVT. 

Constitution and Governance 

The Trustees have adopted the NHF Code of 
Governance and are satisfied that in all material 
respects, they comply with the code. The only 
area where BVT vary the standard practice within 
the code is that non-official Trustees do not serve 
a fixed term of office. This was one of the issues 
considered by Campbell TickeIl in their review of 
governance carried out during 2014. Campbell 
TickeIl recognised that BVT’s Deed of Foundation 
severely limits BVT’s ability to enforce fixed terms of 
office. As explained below, 9 of the 12 Trustees are 
required to be descendants of George or Richard 
Cadbury and it would be very difficult to meet this 
requirement if Trustees were only allowed to serve 
for a certain period of time. Therefore Campbell 
TickeIl recommended that BVT adopts a system 
of Trustee election, rather than fixed terms of 
office, in order that Trustees can ensure that their 
governance arrangements are in order. The first 
elections took place during 2015 and each year 
since and are being repeated on an annual basis 
going forward. 

The Trustees have a Governance Committee whose 
principal functions are: -
 
a)  To review the composition of the Board of 

Trustees and its Committees in terms of 
the required range of skills and experience 
contained therein. 

b)  To consider policies on governance matters and 
to monitor the implementation of these policies. 

c)  To consider the quality of reports, minutes, 
opportunities for members to contribute, 
effectiveness of contributions and support from 
officers. 

e)  To consider compliance with our chosen code of 
governance and compliance with the Regulatory 
Codes issued by the Regulator for Social Housing. 

f)  To consider the outcomes of the trustee appraisal 
process with particular emphasis on training and 
development needs of Board and Committee 
members.

f)  To review the recruitment and induction 
procedures for new Board and Committee 
members. 

g)  To review the effectiveness of governance 
arrangements within the Trust’s subsidiaries. 

The Trustees comprise of up to 12 non-executive 
members who meet at least four times a year. 
They are responsible for governing the affairs of 
the Group. Up to 9 Trustees are required to be 
descendants of either George Cadbury or Richard 
Cadbury. The other 3 Trustees are nominated by: - 

• The Britain Yearly Meeting of the Society of Friends 
• The City Council of Birmingham 
• The University of Birmingham 

The Trustees have a wide range of experience 
covering business, finance, care, health, 
environmental and community affairs. Trustees 
have several sub-committees covering: - 
• Housing & Community Services 
• Estate Management 
• Lightmoor Estate Village Management Committee 
• Lawley Village Management Committee 
• Finance 
• Property Services, Development and Heritage 
• Audit & Risk 
• Governance 
• Remuneration 

Trustees (who held office during this period were) 
R E Wilson BA, ACA, FPC (Chair - Appointed March 
2018) 
A R Allen FCA (Vice Chair) 
R V J Cadbury CBE, MA 
N Cadbury BA, Barrister at Law 
D Cockcroft BA (Hons) MCIH 
A McKittrick BA (Hons), Mphil 
D J Cadbury MSc, DSW, CQSW 
Prof. P Lumley BDS, FDSRCPS, MDentSc, PhD,  
FDSRCS C Cadbury MA 
Prof. J Nolan BSc, MSc, DEng(Hon), C.Eng,  
F.I.Struct.E, F.I.C.E. 
Councillor P Griffiths M.Soc Sc, B.Soc.Sc,D.S.W., C.Q.S.W. 
Chair, D J Cadbury, received a nominal stipend,  
but other Trustees received no remuneration during 
the period. 

Executive Team 
Peter Richmond - Chief Executive  
(Appointed June 2018) 
Peter Roach - Chief Executive (Retired June 2018) 
David Robinson BA (Hons), ACMA, CGMA, FRSA - 
Director of Financial Resources 
Annette Homer FCIH, FCMI - Director of Housing and 
Community 
Anthony Kimber BSc (Hons), MRICS - Director of 
Property, Development and Stewardship 
Helen Harvey, BSc (Hons), MBA, FCIH, MCIPD- Director 
of People and Performance, and Secretary
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Employee Involvement and Senior Staff Changes 
In order to provide for consultation between 
management and employees on matters of 
concern to employees, the Joint Consultative 
Committee (JCC) was established many years 
ago. The Committee comprises staff members 
and managers, including the Chief Executive. JCC 
meetings are generally held at least three times 
per year and in 2018 they discussed areas such 
as flexible working, antibullying and harassment, 
gender pay gap, staff conference, pensions and 
health and safety. 

2018 also saw some change at the senior level in 
BVT. Following the retirement of Peter Roach, BVT’s 
long standing Chief Executive, we successfully 
recruited Peter Richmond as our new Chief 
Executive. The Trustee Board are extremely pleased 
to have recruited such an experienced Chief 
Executive and to have found someone whose 
personal values are such a perfect fit with those  
of our Charity. 

Trustees would also like to express their thanks to 
Peter Roach whose leadership guided BVT to some 
significant successes and whose efforts ensured 
that Peter Richmond has stepped into a well-
positioned organisation. 

Public Benefit 
The Trustees confirm that they have referred to the 
guidance contained in the Charity Commission’s 
general guidance on public benefit when reviewing 
the aims and objectives of BVT and in planning 
future activities. The Trustees have concluded that 
the BVT’s aims and objectives contribute benefits in 
many ways, including the following: 

•  provision of rented housing accommodation to 
those in housing need 

• provision of community facilities and services 
• provision of advice and support to residents

Statement of board’s responsibilities in respect of 
the board’s report and the financial statements 
Registered Provider legislation requires the 
Trustees to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year which give a true and fair view of 
the state of the Group and BVT as at the end of the 
financial year and of the income and expenditure 
of the Group and BVT for the year ended on that 
date. In preparing those financial statements, 
suitable accounting policies have been used, 
framed to the best of the Trustees’ knowledge 
and belief, by reference to reasonable and 
prudent judgements and estimates and applied 
consistently. The Trustees prepare the financial 
statements in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable 
law). Applicable accounting standards have been 
followed. The Trustees are also required to indicate 
where the financial statements are prepared other 
than on the basis that the Group and BVT are going 
concerns. 

The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that 
arrangements are made for keeping proper 
books of account with respect to the Group’s and 
BVT’s transactions and assets and liabilities, and 
for maintaining a satisfactory system of control 
over the Group’s and BVT’s books of account and  
transactions. The financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Charities Act 2011, the Housing and Regeneration 
Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered Providers of Social Housing 2015. The 
Trustees are also responsible for ensuring that 
arrangements are made to safeguard the assets of 
the Group and BVT and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities. 

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the group and financial information 
included on the Bournville Village Trust website. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing 
the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions. 

Political and Charitable Donations 
BVT is a charitable organisation we made no 
contributions to political organisations. To further 
the charitable aims of BVT we made charitable 
donations to other Charitable Organisations who 
have some connection to the Group, of £42,612 
(2017: £26,800) 

Alongside this BVT offered Partner Organisations, 
who furthered our charitable aims, 
accommodation that had a donation in kind 
benefit of £17,900. 

Disclosure of Information to the Auditor 
Trustees who were in office on the date of approval 
of these financial statements have confirmed, as 
far as they are aware, that there is no relevant audit 
information of which the auditor is unaware. Each 
of the Trustees have confirmed that they have 
taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as 
Trustees in order to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that it 
has been communicated to the auditor. 

Auditor 
The Trustees resolved that RSM UK Audit LLP be 
reappointed as auditor. RSM UK Audit LLP has 
indicated its willingness to continue in office. 

Internal Control and Assurance Statement 
BVT’s system of internal controls encompasses a 
number of elements that together facilitate an 
effective and efficient business, enabling BVT to 
respond to a variety of operational, financial, and 
commercial risks. These elements are: 
• Policies and Procedures 
•  Business Planning, Budgeting and Performance 

Management Regular Reporting 
•  Strategic Risk & Assurance Register 
• Operational Risk & Assurance Registers 
• Audit & Risk Committee 
• Internal Audit Programme

C
on

so
lid

at
ed

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts

16 17



• External Audit Programme 
• Third Party Reports 

Policies and Procedures 
A series of policies and other documents underpin 
the internal control process and written procedures 
support these policies and documents where 
appropriate. These include rules, standing orders 
and financial regulations that are regularly 
reviewed and approved by the Board. They 
are supported by other major documents and 
practices such as the Business Plan, codes of 
conduct, a performance management framework, 
management delegation systems, employment 
contracts, appraisals and monitoring processes 
and one-to-one reviews. 

During 2018 we developed a revised policy review 
process that is being tested on a number of policy 
reviews. We also started a process of reviewing 
the number of policies we have and started a 
centralised library and logging system for these to 
manage version control. 

In terms of the procedures that support policies, 
towards the end of 2018 as part of achieving 
better Value for Money we started to carry out 
process mapping to Identify where efficiency and 
ettectiveness could be increased. Initially this has 
been in the Bournville Property Services Department 
but this will extend into other services as we move 
forward. 

Business Planning, Budgeting and Performance 
Management / Regular Reporting 
The annual business planning and budgeting 
process for 2018 was based on achieving the 
strategic objectives in the Business Plan and 
managing the key risks that might impact on 
achieving this. 

There was regular reporting of both risk and 
performance across BVT throughout the year. In 
addition report templates have been standardised 
to ensure that information is presented clearly and 
consistently across key areas. 

Work carried out in 2018 has resulted in a more 
robust, business-led approach to a quarterly 
performance reporting cycle and the agreement of 
a suite of KPI measures that will be reported as 
appropriate each quarter from 2019 onwards. 
Financial reporting has also been strengthened in 
2018. In particular, significant stress testing work has 
been done following the introduction of the Brixx 
financial modelling software. This has enabled 
Trustees to understand BVT’s financial position more 
clearly and also understand the impact of various 
financial scenarios on its financial viability and has 
resulted in very clear indicators for ensuring: 

a) there is access to sufficient liquidity at all times 
b)  financial forecasts are based on appropriate 

and reasonable assumptions 
c)  effective systems are in place to monitor and 

accurately report on the delivery of our plans 
d)  the financial and other implications of risks to the 

delivery of plans are considered 
e)  we monitor, report on and comply with our 

funders’ covenants 

Risk Management 

Strategic Risk & Assurance Register 
A Strategic Risk & Assurance Register is compiled 
and updated by the Executive Team to help 
to facilitate the identification, assessment and 
ongoing monitoring of risks significant to the 
organisation, also considering the need for further 
mitigation. The Register has been presented each 
quarter in 2018 to the Audit & Risk Committee 
and annually to Trustees, with a Risk & Assurance 
Dashboard being presented to them each quarter 
so that they maintain regular oversight of strategic 
risks.

Operational Risk & Assurance Registers 
Operational Risk & Assurance Registers are now in 
place and are updated quarterly by the relevant 
director to help to facilitate the identification, 
assessment and ongoing monitoring of risks 
significant to the department, also considering the 
need for further mitigation. The registers have been 
formally reviewed by the relevant committees in 
the last quarter of 2018 and have been presented 
to Audit & Risk Committee for information and 
assurance, in accordance with our Risk & Assurance 
Strategy, in January 2019. Assurance dashboards 
are presented to each committee quarterly. 

Assessment of Risks 
All identified risks are assessed for likelihood and 
potential impact, both before and after mitigation. 
All new ventures are risk assessed. 

Key Risks 
Among the risks facing BVT are those arising from 
external economic factors, Government initiatives 
and regulatory change. The most significant risks 
facing BVT are described below: 

o   Compliance with Loan Covenants 
BVT has a 30 year financial plan in place and 
monthly checks on current and future covenant 
compliance, but this will remain a carefully 
managed risk. 

o Welfare Benefit Reforms 
Along with all Housing Associations BVT has to 
carefully manage the risk posed by Welfare Reform 
and its impact on our Tenants ability to pay their 
rent. BVT has implemented successful programmes 
to support our tenants in transition and in getting 
ahead on their rent, but it remains a risk to be 
monitored and managed. 

o Pensions 
BVT is a member of the Mondelez Pension Scheme. 
This is closed to new members and a great deal of 
mitigation action has been taken to reduce our risk, 
including an extensive historic deficit repayment 
programme. However, as with most schemes of 
this nature it will remain a risk needing careful 
monitoring by BVT. 

Insurance 
BVT maintains insurance policies for all major 
insurable risks. 

Health and Safety 
We have a comprehensive Health and Safety 
management system. Our internal auditors 
have awarded our health and safety systems a 
substantial assurance rating. 

In the light of the Grenfell Tragedy the Trustees of 
BVT have increased their focus on fire safety and 
whilst BVT has no high rise blocks or cladding, we 
will remain tireless in our drive to reduce risk and 
maintain our resident’s safety. 

Audit & Risk Committee 
The Audit & Risk Committee alerts Trustees to any 
emerging issues or concerns it has. In addition, the 
committee oversees internal audit, external 
audit and management responses as required 
in its review of internal controls. The committee 
is therefore well-placed to provide advice and 
assurance to Trustees on the effectiveness of the 
internal control system, including the organisation’s 
system for the management of risk including the 
scope and effectiveness of the strategy, policies 
and procedures. 

Since the Committee was set up in 2017 it has 
developed its role and become an established 
part of the oversight of internal controls. It met 4 
times during 2018 and also held a joint meeting with 
the Finance Committee. The minutes of all these 
meetings have been presented to the Board of 
Trustees.

C
on

so
lid

at
ed

 F
in

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
en

ts

18 19



As part of good governance the new Independent 
Chair of this committee has met with both 
our External and Internal Auditors outside of 
the committee meetings to gain independent 
assurance on BVT’s controls over its business. 

Senior Managers/Directors are invited to attend 
meetings to give service assurance for an area 
of the business and answer any questions the 
committee may ask to gain assurance in that 
specific area. 

Internal Audit Programme 
Internal audit is an important element of the 
internal control process. Apart from its normal 
risk driven programme of work, including 
recommending improvements to service areas, 
internal audit is responsible for aspects of the 
annual review of the effectiveness of the internal 
control system within the organisation, giving 
an independent objective assessment of the 
effectiveness of the risk management and control 
processes operating at BVT. 

The internal audit programme for 2018 was fully 
delivered and Trustees received the lnternal Audit 
Annual Report from Mazars at the December 
meeting. This programme of audits included GDPR 
and we are aware that in terms ot this we still have 
work ongoing in relation to data cleansing and we 
have scheduled a further audit for 2019 to achieve 
final assurance of full compliance with GDPR 
requirements. 

Mazars audit opinion was as follows: 
Bournville Village Trust has in place an appropriate 
framework for identifying, evaluating and 
managing the significant risks faced by the Trust. 

In respect of the areas of activity which we 
reviewed, and subject to the weaknesses identified 
and reported in our internal audit reports, Bournville 
Village Trust has an adequate, effective and reliable 
framework of internal control and effective risk 
management and governance processes which 
provides reasonable assurance regarding the 
effective and efficient achievement of the Trust’s 
objectives. 

No instances of actual or suspected fraud have 
been encountered during our audit work. 

We are aware that there have been a number of 
internal audit recommendations that have been 
outstanding for some time. Audit & Risk Committee 
has now taken a robust role in terms of ensuring 
scrutiny and oversight of both the tracking and 
implementation of internal audit recommendations. 
This is being further developed as we begin 2019 
through more regular reporting, and continuous 
and more detailed reporting of any outstanding 
fundamental recommendations as part of the 
quarterly Risk & Assurance reports. 

External Audit 
External audit provides feedback to the Trustees 
on the operation of the internal financial controls 
reviewed as part of the annual audit. 

In April 2018, RSM UK issued their latest Audit Findings 
Report, based on BVT’s 2017 financial statements. For 
the fourteenth consecutive year, they reported that 
there were no internal control weaknesses that they 
needed to highlight to Trustees. 

RSM our Auditors issued BVT, BVD and BWHS a clean 
audit opinion. 

Third Party Reports 
External assessments and advice provide 
additional and useful assurance. Major sources 
include regulatory judgements; Care Quality 
Standards (CQC); and independent advice around 
governance, treasury management, health and 
safety and supported housing.

During 2018 we used Ark (external expert 
consultants) to support a further review of 
Bournville Property Services (BPS - our internal 
repairs function) and that relationship is continuing 
to support the change management process 
and we also used Savills for the Agricultural stock 
condition survey. Both these reports were received 
by the Property Services, Development and 
Heritage Committee, who continue to maintain 
close oversight of this work. 

Towards the end of the year we used Mazars for 
a VAT Review and Anthony Collins for governance 
advice and this work has fed into committees in 
early 2019. 

In terms of Care & Supported Housing, the Redditch 
Road Care Scheme was inspected by the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC). The overall rating for the 
service was “Good” across all assessment areas. 
There were no CQC assessments at Selly Wood 
House in 2018 as this was assessed in 2017 when the 
overall rating for the service was also “Good” across 
all assessment areas. The Redditch Road report 
was received by the Housing & Community Services 
Committee on 14th June 2018. 

Other Points to note - Regulatory Performance 
In May 2015, the Homes & Communities Agency 
(HCA) decided to regrade BVT’s governance rating 
from G1 to G2. This regrade remained in place 
following the In-Depth Assessment carried out in 
2017. Since then a G2 to G1 Action Plan has been in 
place with the aim of achieving a regrade to G1. 

All elements of the initial Action Plan were delivered 
during 2018 and we are now providing some further 
final pieces of information that the Regulator 
has requested in the early part of 2019. Although 
we have yet to receive a regulatory judgment 
as a result of delivering this action plan we feel 
that what we have in place has significantly 
strengthened governance at BVT. The Trustees are 
satisfied that BVT are compliant with the Regulator 
for Social Housings Governance & Financial Viability 
Standard and this compliance is checked annually. 

Effectiveness of Controls 
Our risk and control mechanisms are effective. Each 
year our Internal Auditors, Mazars, run an internal 
controls certification process. In 2018 this review has 
not highlighted any issues that were not previously 
identified through normal management processes. 
During the last year, no limited assurance was 
received on any internal audits. 

The Executive team has reviewed the effectiveness 
of the system of internal controls, including the 
sources of assurance agreed by the Board. There 
is sufficient evidence to confirm that adequate 
systems of internal control are in place and 
operated throughout the year. 

Reserves

All surpluses generated are reinvested to meet the 
Group’s principal objectives, therefore, the reserves 
that the Group has accumulated have been largely 
invested in its housing and other properties and are 
not represented by cash balances. The rationale for 
certain restricted reserves is explained within the 
Accounting Policies on page 34. 

Fixed Assets

Details of the changes in fixed assets are set out in 
note 7 to the financial statements.
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B30 1QY 

Homes England Registration Number 
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Registered Charity Number 
219260 

Auditor 
RSM UK Audit LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

St Philips Point 
Temple Row 
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B2 5AF 
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Lloyds Bank Pic 
142 Edgbaston Park Road 
Birmingham 
B15 2TY 

Solicitors 
Eversheds LLP 
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B3 3AL 

By order of the Trustees 
Helen Harvey 
Secretary 
20 June 2019

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of 
Bournville Village Trust (the ‘Association’) for the 
year ended 31 December 2018 which comprise 
the consolidated and charity RSL Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, consolidated and charity 
RSL Statements of Financial Position, consolidated 
and charity RSL Statement of Changes in Reserves, 
the consolidated and charity RSL Statements of 
Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards 
including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion the financial statements: 
•  give a true and fair view of the state of the 

Association’s affairs as at 31 December 2018 and 
of its 

•  income and expenditure for the year then ended; 
have been properly prepared in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; 

•  have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Charities Act 2011, the Housing 
and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting 
Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social 
Housing 2015. 

Basis 
We have been appointed as auditors under 
section 151 of the Charities Act 2011 and report in 
accordance with reguIations made under section 
154 of that Act. 

We sonducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Association in accordance with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in the UK, including 
the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) 
require us to report to you where: 
•  the Trustees’ use of the going concern basis of 

accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or 

•  the Trustees have not disclosed in the financial 
statements any identified material uncertainties 
that may cast significant doubt about the 
Association’s ability to continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting for a period 
of at least twelve months from the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Other information 
The trustees are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, other 
than the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information 
and, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement of 
the other information. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.
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Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters where the Charities Act 2011 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

•  the information given in the Trustees’ Report is 
inconsistent in any material respect with the 
financial statements; or 

•  sufficient accounting records have not been kept; 
or 

•  the financial statements are not in agreement 
with the accounting records and returns; or 

•  we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit. 

Responsibilities of Trustees 
As explained more fully in the Trustees’ 
responsibilities statement set out on page 17, the 
Trustees are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view, and for such internal 
control as the Trustees determine are necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees 
are responsible for assessing the Association’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the 
Association or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements is provided 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at 
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the RSL charity’s 
trustees as a body, in accordance with the Charities 
Act 2011. Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the charity’s trustees those 
matters we are required to state to them in an 
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the RSL 
charity and the RSL charity’s trustees as a body, for 
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed. 

RSM UK Audit LLP 
Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
St Philips Point 
Temple Row 
Birmingham 
B2 5AF 

RSM UK Audit 
RSM UK Audit LLP is eligible to act as an auditor in 
terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006.

Consolidated and Trust statements of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 december 2018

 Notes  Group  Trust
   2018 2017 2018 2017
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

TURNOVER  1 27,376 27,545 26,710 26,510

Operating expenditure Normal 1 (22,216) (21,153) (21,917) (20,696)
 Exceptional 5 0 0 0 0
       

OPERATING SURPLUS  1 5,160 6,392 4,793 5,814

Surplus on sale of housing and other properties 5a 195 696 195 696
Surplus on the sale of land   5a 310 357 310 358
Surplus on sale of other fixed assets 5a 550 118 550 118
Interest receivable   3 30 178 221 346
Interest and financing costs   4 (4,542) (4,916) (4,552) (4,919)
Movement in fair value of financial instrument 16 2,436 1,818 2,436 1,818
       
SURPLUS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 20 4,139 4,644 3.953 4,231
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Consolidated and Trust statements of finacial position as at 31st December 2018 Statement of changes in reserves as at 31 December 2018

 Notes  Group  Trust

   2018 2017 2018 2017
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
FIXED ASSETS  
Tangible assets
Housing properties  Cost 7A 189,876 187,366 178,661 176,338
 Depreciation 1 (22,216) (21,153) (21,917) (20,696)
       
    
    158,187 159,304 149,743 150,844

Other fixed assets   7B 19,158 18,995 19,158 18,995
Fixed asset investments   8 1,048 1,044 9,448 9,444
       

    178,393 179,343 178,349 179,283
Current Assets
Properties held for sale   9 1,637 851 1,637 851
Stock   10 1,587 2,063 6 141
Debtors   11 2,418 1,978 4,446 4,168
Cash at bank and in hand    2,166 4,636 1,916 4,385
       

    7,808 9,528 8,005 9,545
CREDITORS
Amounts falling due within one year 12 (8,693) (8,665) (9,611) (9,209)
       

NET CURRENT ASSETS    (885) 863 (1,606) 336
       

TOTAL ASSET LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES  177,508 180,206 176,743 179,619
       

CREDITORS
Amounts falling due after more than one year 13 125,016 128,945 124,220 128,141
Provisions for liabilities - pensions 18 2,520 2,992 2,520 2,992
Financial instruments at fair value 16 23,478 25,914 23,478 25,914

CAPITAL AND RESERVES   
Restricted reserves   19 5,198 4,687 5,198 4,687
Endowments    696 696 696 696
Income and expenditure reserve 19 20,600 16,972 20,631 17,189
       
    
    177,508 180,206 176,743 179,619
       

The financial ststements on pages 25 to 58 were approved by the Trustees and authorised for issue on 20 
June 2019 and were signed on its behalf by:

Group    Income Restricted  Endowments Total 
   and reserve 
   expenditure
   reserve
   £ £ £ £
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 1 January 2017   13,040 3,975 696 17,711

Surplus for the year   4,644 0 0 4,644

Transfer of restricted expenditure  
from unrestricted reserve   (712) 712 0 0

      

Balance at 31 December 2017   16,972 4,687 696 22,355
      
Surplus of the year   4,139 0 0 4,139

Transfer of restricted expenditure from 
unrestricted reserve   (511) 511 0 0
      

Balance as 31 December 2018  20,600 5,198 696 26,494
      

Trust    Income Restricted  Endowments Total 
   and reserve 
   expenditure
   reserve
   £ £ £ £
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 1 January 2017   13,670 3,975 696 18,341

Surplus for the year   4,231 0 0 4,231

Transfer of restricted expenditure  
from unrestricted reserve   (712) 712 0 0

      

Balance at 31 December 2017   17,189 4,687 696 22,572
      
Surplus of the year   3,953 0 0 3,953

Transfer of restricted expenditure  
from unrestricted reserve   (511) 511 0 0
      

Balance as 31 December 2018  20,631 5,198 696 26,525
       

R Wilson - Chairman D Cadbury - Trustee P Richmond - Chief Executive
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Legal status 
Bournville Village Trust is a charity and is an English 
registered social housing provider, and is a public 
benefit entity. 

The principal activities and operations are 
disclosed in the Report of the Board of Trustees. 

The address of the Society’s registered office and 
principal place of business is 
350 Bournville Lane 
Bournville 
Birmingham 
B30 1QY 

Basis of accounting 
These financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with UK Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (UK GAAP) including FRS 102 
“The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 
UK and Republic of Ireland” (“FRS 102”), the Housing 
SORP 2014 “Statement of Recommended Practice 
for Registered Housing Providers” and they comply 
with the Accounting Direction for Private Registered 
Providers of Social Housing 2015. They are prepared 
under the historical cost convention, modified to 
include certain financial instruments at fair value. 

Monetary amounts in these financial statements 
are rounded to the nearest whole £1,000, except 
where otherwise indicated. 

Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate 
those of the Trust and all of its subsidiaries (i.e. 
entities that the Group controls through its power 
to govern the financial and operating policies so as 
to obtain economic benefits). Subsidiaries acquired 
during the year are consolidated using the 
purchase method. Their results are incorporated 
from the date that control passes. All financial 
statements are made up to 31 December 2018. 

All intra group transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated on consolidation. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of the impairment of 
the asset transferred. 

Going concern 
Under the governance requirements, the Trustees 
confirm that after making enquiries they have 
reasonable expectation that the Group and 
Trust have adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
Accordingly they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial 
statements. 

Turnover and revenue recognition 
Turnover represents rents and service charges 
receivable in respect of tenanted leasehold and 
freehold properties, and amounts invoiced in 
respect of the provision of services to third parties 
(net of VAT). It also includes turnover from shared 
ownership first tranche sales, supported people 
income, donations, proceeds from land sales, 
overage and income for release of covenant 
restrictions and revenue grants receivable in  
the period. 

Rental income is recognised from the point when 
properties under development reach practical 
completion or otherwise become available for 
letting, net of any voids. Income from first tranche 
sales and land sales is recognised at the point of 
legal completion of the transaction. Services to 
third parties are recognised at the point of service 
delivery. 

Other income 
Interest income is accrued on a time-apportioned 
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding at 
the effective interest rate.

Consolidated and Trust statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2018

 Notes  Group  Trust

   2018 2017 2018 2017
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

Net cash generated from operations 21 9,279 8,424 8,405 7,355
Interest paid   (4,486) (4,711) (4,496) (4,714)
       
    
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  4,7937 3,713 3,909 2,641
       

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition and construction of tangible fixed   (5,434) (5,263) (5,182) (4,937) 
Net proceeds on disposal of tangible fixed assets  1,525 2,760 1,525 2.760 
Interest received    26 180 217 348
       

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (3,883) (2,323) (3,440) (1,829)
       

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Loans received    0 4,500 0 4,500
Loan principal repayments    (3,555) (3,700) (3,555) (3,700)
       

NET CASH (USED IN) / FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (3,555) 800 (3,555) 800
       

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH  (2,645) 2,190 (3,086) 1,612
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR  4,134 1,944 2,625 1,013
       

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END YEAR 21 1,489 4,134 (461) 2,625
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Tangible fixed assets - housing properties 
Housing properties are properties for the provision 
of social housing and are principally properties 
available for rent and shared ownership. 
Completed housing and shared ownership 
properties are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. 

Agriculture, commercial, community, communal, 
and office buildings are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Cost includes the cost of acquiring land and 
buildings, and expenditure incurred during the 
development period. 

Works to existing properties which replace a 
component that has been treated separately for 
depreciation purposes, along with those works that 
enhance the economic benefits of the assets, are 
capitalised as improvements. Such enhancements 
can occur if improvements result in either: 

• An increase in rental income; 
• A material reduction in future maintenance costs; 
• A significant extension to the life of the property. 

Shared ownership properties are split proportionally 
between fixed assets and current assets based on 
the element relating to expected first tranche sales. 
The first tranche proportion is classed as a current 
asset and related sales proceeds are included in 
turnover. The remaining element is classed as a 
fixed asset and included in housing properties at 
cost, less any provisions needed for depreciation 
or impairment. Where the first tranche has been 
sold prior to the acquisition of properties, these are 
included in fixed assets only. 

Social housing and other government grants 
Where developments have been financed wholly 
or partly by social housing and other grants, the 
amount of the grant received has been included as 
deferred income and recognised in Turnover over 
the estimated useful life of the associated asset 
structure (not land), under the accruals model. 
Social Housing Grant (SHG) received for items of 
cost written off In the Statement at Comprehensive 
Income Account is included as part of Turnover. 
When SHG in respect of housing properties in 
course of construction exceeds the total cost to 

date of those housing properties, the excess is 
shown as a current liability. 

SHG must be recycled by the Association under 
certain conditions, if a property is sold, or if another 
relevant event takes place. In these cases, the SHG 
can be used for projects approved by the Homes 
England. However, SHG may have to be repaid if 
certain conditions are not met. If the grant is not 
required to be recycled or repaid, any unamortised 
grant is recognised as Turnover. In certain 
circumstances, SHG may be repayable, and, in that 
event, is recorded as a subordinated unsecured 
repayable debt. 

Depreciation of housing properties 
Freehold land or assets under construction are not 
depreciated. 

The group separately identifies the major 
components of its housing properties and charges 
depreciation so as to write down the cost of each 
component to its estimated residual value, on a 
straight line basis over the following years: 

 Years 
Structure  100   
Kitchen  25 
Bathroom  30 
Windows  40 
Central Heating  40 
Boilers  20 
Sewerage  20 

The depreciation policy for offices, commercial and 
community buildings are predominantly based on 
50 years.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Impairment of fixed assets 
An assessment is made at each reporting date of 
whether there are indications that a fixed asset 
(including housing properties) may be impaired or 
that an impairment loss previously recognised has 
fully or partially reversed. If such indications exist, 
the group estimates the recoverable amount of the 
asset. 

Shortfalls between the carrying value of fixed 
assets and their recoverable amounts, being the 
higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-
use of the asset based on its service potential, are 
recognised as impairment losses in the income and 
expenditure account. 

Recognised impairment losses are reversed if, and 
only if, the reasons for the impairment loss have 
ceased to apply. Reversals of impairment losses 
are recognised in income and expenditure. On 
reversal of an impairment loss, the depreciation 
or amortisation is adjusted to allocate the asset’s 
revised carrying amount (less any residual value) 
over its remaining useful life. 

Other tangible fixed assets 
Tangible fixed assets are initially measured at cost, 
net of depreciation and any impairment losses. 
Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets, 
other than freehold land and investment properties, 
at rates calculated to write off the cost of each 
asset to its estimated residual value on a straight 
line basis over its expected useful life as follows: 

Computer Equipment 4 years 
Fixtures and Fittings 4 years 

Residual value is calculated on prices prevailing 
at the reporting date, after estimated costs of 
disposal, for the asset as if it were at the age and in 
the condition expected at the end of its useful life. 

Properties under construction 
Properties in the course of construction are carried 
at cost, less any identifiable impairment loss. 
Cost includes professional fees and other directly 
attributable costs that are necessary to bring the 
property to its operating condition. Depreciation 
commences when the properties are ready for their 
intended use. 

Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred unless 
they are capitalised if directly attributable to 
a development scheme. Borrowing costs are 
capitalised from the start of construction through 
to the time the development is completed and 
handed over to management. Costs directly 
connected with the raising of finance are deducted 
from loans and written off evenly over the life of the 
loan in the income and expenditure account. 

Fixed asset investments 
There are two elements to fixed asset investments. 
Investment of Subsidiary represents the fair value 
of the proceeds for the acquisition of BWHS as at 
4 January 2011 when the organisation became a 
subsidiary of BVT. This became deemed cost going 
forward. The THFC Interest Service Reserve equates 
to an investment required under the terms of our 
THFC loan and the funds are currently invested 
in bank deposit accounts. The interest reserve is 
stated at cost with any accrued interest being 
credited to the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

Stocks and work in progress 
Stocks and work in progress are stated at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value. 

Long-term projects, notably the Lightmoor 
project undertaken through Bournville Village 
Developments are assessed on a contract-by-
contract basis and reflected in the Income and 
Expenditure Account by recording turnover and 
related costs as contract activity progresses. 
Turnover is ascertained in a manner appropriate to 
the stage of completion of the contract, and credit 
taken for surplus earned to date when the outcome 
of the contract can be assessed with reasonable 
certainty. The amount by which turnover exceeds 
payments on account is classified as “amounts 
recoverable on contracts” and included in debtors; 
to the extent that payments on account exceed 
relevant turnover, the excess is included as a 
creditor. The amount of long term contracts, at 
cost net of amounts transferred to cost of sales, 
less provision for foreseeable losses and payments 
on account not matched with turnover, is included 
within stocks.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Value added tax 
Bournville Village Trust and Bournville Village 
Developments Ltd are both registered for VAT 
purposes. 

Bournville Village Trust is only able to recover 
a relatively small percentage of VAT on its 
expenditure, as the majority of its income is exempt 
for VAT purposes. Therefore, expenditure is shown 
inclusive of VAT with the input VAT recovered 
deducted from relevant expenditure. 

Bournville Village Developments Limited is 
able to recover all VAT on its expenditure. As a 
result, expenditure is shown net of VAT and VAT 
recoverable shown as a debtor. 

Bournville Works Housing Society is not registered 
for VAT purposes and is therefore unable to recover 
any VAT on its expenditure. Therefore, expenditure is 
shown inclusive of VAT. 

Leases 
Operating leases 
Annual rentals are charged to income and 
expenditure on a straight line basis over the lease 
term. 

Employee benefits 
The costs of short-term employee benefits are 
recognised as a liability and an expense. The 
best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle an obligation for termination benefits is 
recognised immediately as an expense when the 
group is demonstrably committed to terminate 
the employment of an employee or to provide 
termination benefits. 

Retirement benefits 
Defined contribution plans 
For defined contribution schemes the amount 
charged to Income and expenditure is the 
contributions payable in the year. Differences 
between contributions payable in the year and 
contributions actually paid are shown as either 
accruals or prepayments. 

Defined benefit plans 
The group participates in a multi-employer defined 
benefit scheme, the Cadbury Mondelez Pension 
Fund. 

For the Cadbury Mondelez Pension Fund, 
contributions are recognised in income and 
expenditure in the period to which they relate as 
there is insufficient information available to use 
defined benefit accounting. A liability is recognised 
for contributions arising from an agreement with 
the multi-employer plan that determines how 
the group will fund a deficit. Contributions are 
discounted when they are not expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months of the period end. 
The rate used to discount the contributions to their 
present value is based on market yields for high 
quality corporate bonds with terms and currencies 
consistent with those at the end benefit obligations.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Financial instruments 
The Society has elected to apply the provisions of 
sections 11 ‘Basic Financial Instruments’ and Section 
12 ‘Other Financial Instruments Issues’ of FRS 102, in 
full, to all of its financial instruments. 

Financial assets and financial liabìlíties are 
recognised when the Group becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions or the instrument, and 
are offset only when the Group currently has a 
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts and intends to settle on a net basis, 
or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 

Financial assets  
Debtors 
Rental and trade debtors which are receivable 
within one year and which do not constitute a 
financing transaction are initially measured at the 
transaction price. Rental debtors are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, being the transaction 
price less any amounts settled and any impairment 
losses. 

Where the arrangement with rental or trade 
debtors constitutes a financing transaction, the 
debtor is initially and subsequently measured at the 
present value of future payments discounted at a 
market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument. 

A provision for impairment of debtors is established 
when there is objective evidence that the amounts 
due will not be collected according to the original 
terms of the contract. Impairment losses are 
recognised in profit or loss for the excess of the 
carrying value of the rental or trade debtor over the 
present value of the future cash fiows discounted 
using the original effective interest rate. Subsequent 
reversals of an impairment loss that objectively 
relate to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised, are recognised immediately in 
profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities 
Trade creditors 
Trade creditors payable within one year that 
do not constitute a financing transaction are 
initially measured at the transaction price and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, being 
the transaction price less any amounts settled. 
Where the arrangement with a trade creditor 
constitutes a financing transaction, the creditor is 
initially and subsequently measured at the present 
value of future payments discounted at a market 
rate of interest for a similar instrument. 

Borrowings 
Borrowings are initially recognised at the 
transaction price, including transaction costs, and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. Interest expense is 
recognised on the basis of the effective interest 
method and is included in interest payable and 
other similar charges. 

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 
A financial asset is derecognised only when the 
contractual rights to cash fiows expire or are 
settled, or substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are transferred to another party, or if 
some significant risks and rewards of ownership are 
retained but the control of the asset has transferred 
to another party that is able to sell the asset in 
its entirety to an unrelated third party. A financial 
liability (or part thereof) is derecognised when the 
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expires. 

Derivatives 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on 
the date a derivative contract is entered into and 
are subsequently remeasured to fair value, at each 
reporting date. Fair value gains and losses are 
recognised through income and expenditure.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the group has an 
obligation at the reporting date as a result of a past 
event which It is probable will result in the transfer 
of economic benefits and that obligation can be 
estimated reliably. 

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the 
amounts required to settle the obligation. Where 
the effect of the time value of money is material, 
the provision is based on the present value of those 
amounts, discounted at the pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects the risks specific to the liability. The 
unwinding of the discount is recognised within 
interest payable and similar charges. 

Reserves 
The group establishes restricted funds for the 
specific purposes where their use is subject to 
restrictions imposed by third parties. 

Restricted reserves (note 20) 

i) SUPPORTED HOUSING FUND
  This reserve represents funds to cover the 

replacement of furniture and equipment and 
any major repairs needed in any of the Trust’s 
supported housing schemes. 

ii)  FUTURE MAINTENANCE RESERVE 
  This reserve represents the combined total of 

all the sinking funds that BVT holds to fund our 
future maintenance commitments in the areas 
in which we work. 

iii)  BAT RESERVE 
  This reserve represents the net assets of 

Bournville Almshouse Trust, which under a Uniting 
Direction from the Charity Commission, is now 
accounted through this restricted reserve. 

iv)  ELIZA BEECH FUND
  This reserve represents funds to provide residents 

of BAT with excursions and other entertainment. 

v) COMMUNITY PROJECT RESERVE 
  This reserve relates to funding to publish the 

children’s book ‘Two brothers and a chocolate 
factory’. Although the funding was secured in 
2015 the project is still continuing. 

vi)  SHROPSHIRE PROJECT RESERVE 

  Some community events generate income to 
fund specific projects or events that otherwise 
wouldn’t happen. 

Endowment reserves 
This reserve represents the permanent endowment 
of the charity as bequeathed by the Founder. 

Critical accounting estimates and areas of 
judgement 
Estimates and judgements are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
The group makes estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates and assumptions will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The 
estimates and assumptions that have significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below. 

Tangible fixed assets 
Tangible fixed assets are depreciated over their 
useful lives as per the accounting policy note. The 
useful economic lives of property components are 
in line with the current maintenance programme 
and are re-assessed annually to take into account 
technological innovation and product life cycles.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
Reviews for impairment of housing properties 
are carried out when a trigger has occurred and 
any impairment loss in a cash generating unit 
is recognised by a charge to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Impairment is recognised 
where the carrying value of a cash generating unit 
exceeds the higher of its net realisable value or its 
value in use. A cash generating unit is normally a 
group of properties at scheme level whose cash 
income can be separately identified. 

Development expenditure 
Development expenditure is capitalised in line 
with the accounting policy. Initial capitalisation of 
costs is based on management’s judgement that 
a development scheme is likely to proceed. Costs 
capitalised in this way are regularly reviewed and 
any cost identified as abortive are charged in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Pension discount factor 
The discount factor used in the calculation of the 
pension fund liability is based on the yield for a 
bond taken out by THFC with a maturity date of 
2023, which coincides with the final year in which 
the Trust is required to make a deficit contribution. 

Debtors 
Debtors are based on the amounts outstanding 
in our ledgers at the end of the financial year, less 
any provision for bad debts. The provision for rent 
arrears is based on all former tenants arrears 
plus 75% of all current tenant arrears that remain 
outstanding for more than 8 weeks. 

Balances due from group undertakings are 
assessed at the end of each year to ensure that the 
debt is recoverable in full. If there is any doubt that 
the debt will be fully recovered, a provision would 
be made, to reduce the debt to the anticipated 
recoverable amount.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

1. TURNOVER COST OF SALES, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATIONAL SURPLUS

Continuing activities - Group

  2018   2017

 Turnover Operating Operating Turnover Operating Operating
  Costs Surplus  Costs Surplus 
   (Deficit)   (Deficit)
 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Social Housing Activities
Income and expenditure
from social housing lettings 23,046 (16,381) 6,665 23,223 (16,356) 6,867

Other Social Housing Activities
First tranche shared ownership sales 128 (123) 5 211 (202) 9
Services to third parties 413 (342) 71 378 (471) (93)
Profit share arrangement 192 (25) 167 171 (25) 146
Community activities 53 (519) (466) 62 (522) (460)

Non Social Housing Activities
Market renting 462 (233) 229 453 (133) 320
Agricultural lettings 539 (717) (178) 490 (483) 7
Estate management 1,240 (2,223) (983) 1,250 (2,156) (906)
Commercial lettings 860 (536) 324 860 (465) 395
Selly Manor museum 203 (380) (177) 151 (205) (54)
Land transactions 103 0 103 189 0 189
Pensions fund costs 0 (30) (30) 0 (30) (30)
Write off of development costs 0 (576) (576) 0 0 0
Services to third parties 137 (131) 6 107 (105) 2
      

Total 27,736 (22,216) 5,160 27,545 21,153 6,392

      

1. TURNOVER COST OF SALES, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATIONAL SURPLUS

Continuing activities - Trust

  2018   2017

 Turnover Operating Operating Turnover Operating Operating
  Costs Surplus  Costs Surplus 
   (Deficit)   (Deficit)
 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Social Housing Activities
Income and expenditure
from social housing lettings 21,719 (15,421) 6,298 21,928 (15,639) 6,289

Other Social Housing Activities
First tranche shared ownership sales 128 (123) 5 211 (202) 9
Services to third parties 1,074 (1,003) 71 638 (731) (93)
Profit share arrangement 192 (25) 167 171 (25) 146
Community activities 53 (519) (466) 62 (522) (460)

Non Social Housing Activities
Market renting 462 (233) 229 453 (133) 320
Agricultural lettings 539 (717) (178) 490 (483) 7
Estate management 1,240 (2,223) (983) 1,250 (2,156) (906)
Commercial lettings 860 (536) 324 860 (465) 395
Selly Manor museum 203 (380) (177) 151 (205) (54)
Land transactions 103 0 103 189 0 189
Pensions fund costs 0 (30) (30) 0 (30) (30)
Write off of development costs 0 (576) (576) 0 0 0
Services to third parties 137 (131) 6 107 (105) 2
      

Total 26,710 (21,917) 4,793 26,510 (20,696) 5,814

      

To ensure BVT’s accounts are comparable with the Registered Housing Provider as a whole, especially to 
ensure the sector score card give fair comparison to a reviewer, we have moved our spend on community  
activities into one line above. Part of this spend would previously have been disclosed as a non-social  
housing activity.

To ensure BVT’s accounts are comparable with the Registered Housing Provider as a whole, especially to 
ensure the sector score card give fair comparison to a reviewer, we have moved our spend on community 
activities into one line above. Part of this spend would previously have been disclosed as a non-social  
housing activity.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

1. TURNOVER COST OF SALES, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATIONAL SURPLUS (CONTINUED)

Particulars of income and expenditure from social housing lettings - Group

 2018

 General Supported Housing for Shared Total
 needs housing older people ownership 
 housing   
 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover from social  
housing lettings
Rent receivable net of voids 16,982 0 1,176 341 18,499
Service charges receivable 238 0 726 4 968
Care and support charges 0 3,255 0 0 3,255
     
Net rental income 17,220 3,255 1,902 345 22,722
Social housing grant 
amortilisation 184 21 110 9 324
     
Turnover from social  
housing lettings 17,404 3,276 2,012 354 23,046
     

Expenditure on social  
housing lettings

Management 2,716 476 258 160 3,610
Service charge costs 275 0 589 0 864
Care and support costs 0 2,455 0 0 2,455
Routine maintenance 3,284 162 154 0 3,600
Planned maintenance 886 9 94 0 989
Major repairs expenditure 1,032 0 0 0 1,032
Bad debts (7) (2) 5 0 (4)
Depreciation of properties 2,532 190 327 72 3,121
Depreciation of fixtures  
and fittings 2 28 7 0 37
Impairment of properties 0 583 0 0 533
Other costs 144 0 0 0 144
     

Operating costs on  
social housing lettings 10,864 3,851 1,434 232 16,381
     

Operating surplus / (deficit) 
on social housing lettings 6,540 (575) 578 122 6,665
     

Rent loss due to voids 65 0 14 0 79
     

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

1. TURNOVER COST OF SALES, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATIONAL SURPLUS (CONTINUED)

Particulars of income and expenditure from social housing lettings - Group

 2017

 General Supported Housing for Shared Total
 needs housing older people ownership 
 housing   
 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover from social  
housing lettings
Rent receivable net of voids 17,034 0 1,176 327 18,537
Service charges receivable 249 0 735 5 989
Care and support charges 0 3,371 0 0 3,371
     
Net rental income 17,283 3,371 1,911 332 22,897
Social housing grant 
amortilisation 184 21 110 11 326
     
Turnover from social  
housing lettings 17,467 3,392 2,021 334 23,223
     

Expenditure on social  
housing lettings

Management 2,579 555 283 150 3,567
Service charge costs 234 0 581 0 815
Care and support costs 0 2,477 0 0 2,477
Routine maintenance 3,316 121 141 0 3,578
Planned maintenance 1,141 10 41 0 1,192
Major repairs expenditure 1,100 0 0 0 1,100
Bad debts 39 51 10 0 100
Depreciation of properties 2,683 207 334 75 3,299
Depreciation of fixtures  
and fittings 3 24 15 0 42
Other costs 186 0 0 0 186
     

Operating costs on  
social housing lettings 11,281 3,445 1,405 225 16,356
     

Operating surplus / (deficit) 
on social housing lettings 6,186 (53) 616 118 6,867
     

Rent loss due to voids 63 0 10 0 73
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

1. TURNOVER COST OF SALES, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATIONAL SURPLUS (CONTINUED)

Particulars of income and expenditure from social housing lettings - Trust

 2018

 General Supported Housing for Shared Total
 needs housing older people ownership 
 housing   
 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover from social  
housing lettings
Rent receivable net of voids 15,663 0 1,176 341 17,180
Service charges receivable 238 0 726 4 968
Care and support charges 0 3,255 0 0 3,255
     
Net rental income 15,901 3,255 1,902 345 21,403
Social housing grant 
amortisation 176 21 110 9 316
     
Turnover from social  
housing lettings 16,077 3,276 2,012 354 21,719
     

Expenditure on social  
housing lettings

Management 2,413 476 258 160 3,307
Service charge costs 275 0 589 0 864
Care and support costs 0 2,455 0 0 2,455
Routine maintenance 3,090 162 154 0 3,406
Planned maintenance 803 9 94 0 922
Major repairs expenditure 1,032 0 0 0 1,032
Bad debts (7) (2) 5 0 (4)
Depreciation of properties 2,263 190 327 72 2,852
Depreciation of fixtures  
and fittings 2 28 7 0 37
Impairment of properties 0 533 0 0 533
Other costs 143 0 0 0 143
     

Operating costs on  
social housing lettings 9,904 3,851 1,434 232 15,421
     

Operating surplus / (deficit) 
on social housing lettings 6,173 (575) 578 122 6,298
     

Rent loss due to voids 62 0 14 0 76
     

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

1. TURNOVER COST OF SALES, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATIONAL SURPLUS (CONTINUED)

Particulars of income and expenditure from social housing lettings - Trust

 2017

 General Supported Housing for Shared Total
 needs housing older people ownership 
 housing   
 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover from social  
housing lettings
Rent receivable net of voids 15,747 0 1,176 327 17,250
Service charges receivable 249 0 735 5 989
Care and support charges 0 3,371 0 0 3,371
     
Net rental income 15,996 3,371 1,911 332 21,610
Social housing grant 
amortisation 176 21 110 11 318
     
Turnover from social  
housing lettings 16,172 3,392 2,021 334 21,928
     

Expenditure on social  
housing lettings

Management 2,423 555 283 150 3,411
Service charge costs 234 0 581 0 815
Care and support costs 0 2,477 0 0 2,477
Routine maintenance 3,185 121 141 0 3,447
Planned maintenance 1,049 10 41 0 1,100
Major repairs expenditure 1,021 0 0 0 1,021
Bad debts 42 51 10 0 103
Depreciation of properties 2,426 207 334 75 3,042
Depreciation of fixtures  
and fittings 3 24 15 0 42
Other costs 181 0 0 0 181
     

Operating costs on  
social housing lettings 10,564 3,445 1,405 225 15,639
     

Operating surplus / (deficit) 
on social housing lettings 5,608 (53) 616 118 6,289
     

Rent loss due to voids 60 0 10 0 70
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

2. ACCOMMODATION IN MANAGEMENT AND DEVELOPMENT

 Group Trust
 2018 2017 2018 2017
 Number Number Number Number

Units owned at year end
General needs housing 3,296 3,279 2,983 2,966
Shared ownership 133 134 133 134
Supported housing 27 28 27 28
Housing for older people 262 262 262 262
Market rented 59 59 59 59
    
 3,777 3,762 3,464 3,449
     
 
Units in management at year end
General needs housing 3,496 3,479 3,496 3,479
Shared ownership 133 134 133 134
Supported housing 27 28 27 28
Housing for older people 262 262 262 262
Market rented 59 59 59 59
    
 3,977 3,962 3,977 3,962
    

The above numbers include 127 (2017:127) units owned by BVT but managed by other associations.

3. INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

 Group Trust
 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Interest on bank deposits 26 18 26 18
Interest on intercompany loans 0 0 191 168
Other interest receivable 4 160 4 160
    
 30 178 221 346
    

4. INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES

 Group Trust
 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Interest arising on:
bank loans and overdrafts 3,255 3,578 3,265 3,581
Other loans 1,220 1,224 1,220 1,224
Interest and financing costs - pensions 67 114 67 114
    
 4,542 4,916 4,552 4,919
     
    
 

5. OPERATING SURPLUS

 Group Trust
 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Operating surplus is stated after charging/crediting
Depreciaition of other tangible fixed asset owned 193 214 193 214
Depreciation of housing properties 3,208 3,299 2,940 3,042
Depreciation of non housing properties 402 359 402 359
Impairment of housing properties 533 0 533 0
Write off of development schemes 576 0 576 0
Operating lease rentals 158 158 158 158
Amortisation of capital grant (326) (326) (318) (318)

Fees payable to RSM UK Audit LLP and its associates in respect of both audit and non-audit services are as 
follows:

Audit services - statutory audit of the comapny 51 46 35 33

Other services:
All other non-audit services 8 16 7 14
    

5A. SURPLUS ON SALE AND FIXED ASSETS

GROUP 2018 2017 

 Sale of Sale of Sale of Sale of Sale of Sale of
 Housing Land Other Fixed Housing Land Other Fixed
 Properties  Assets Properties  Assets
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Disposal proceeds 317 310 854  2,306  358  192
Carrying value of fixed assets (113) 0 (290)  (1,514)  0  (74)
Cost of sales (9) 0 (14)  (96)  0  0
         
 195 310 550  696  358  118
         

TRUST 2018 2017 

 Sale of Sale of Sale of Sale of Sale of Sale of
 Housing Land Other Fixed Housing Land Other Fixed
 Properties  Assets Properties  Assets
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Disposal proceeds 317 310 854  2,306  358  192
Carrying value of fixed assets (113) 0 (290)  (1,514)  0  (74)
Cost of sales (9) 0 (14)  (96)  0  0
         
 195 310 550  696  358  118
         

In 2018 BVT changed the recognition of a contractual payment from the ExtraCare Trust, from interest 
receivable to a netting off of interest payable, as we believe this best reflects the nature of the transaction.

The above sales of housing properties in 2017 included sales of properties originally classified as fixed assets 
but transferred to current assets in previous years. The above sale of other fixed assets in 2018 includes the 
sale of an agricultural farm classified as other fixed assets but transferred to current assets in previous year.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

6. EMPLOYEES

The average monthly number of persons (including directors) employed by the Trust and Group  
expressed in full time equivalents during the year was: 

 Group Trust

 2018 2017 2018 2017
 Number Number Number Number
Office and management 120 126 120 125
Housing support and care 75 126 120 125
Maintenance 67 75 67 75
    
 262 279 262 278
    

The above figures are calculated on the number of staff employed in the Group and Trust, working a standard 37 
hour working week. The calculation has been done on a month by month basis and then averaged out over the 
course of the year. 
 
Staff cost for the above persons:  Group Trust
 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Wages and salaries 7,571 7,892 7,571 7,889
Redundancy Payments 349 75 349 75
Social security costs 689 712 689 712
Defined benefit pension cost 675 754 675 754
Defined contribution pension cost 162 118 162 118
Other pension costs 30 30 30 30
    
 9,476 9,581 9,476 9,578
    

The full time equivalent number of staff who received remuneration over £60,000 (including directors):
 Group Trust

 2018 2017 2018 2017
 Number Number Number Number
£60,000 - £70,000 5 5 5 5
£70,001 - £80,000 6 2 6 2 
£80,001 - £90,000 1 1 1 1 
£90,001 - £100,000 3 1 3 1 
£100,001 - £110,000 1 1 1 1
£120,001 - £130,000 0 0 0 0
£140,001 - £150,000 0 2 0 2

The bandings above include redundancy payments as detailed in staff costs above.

Directors
In respect of the directors (BVT executive team) who are considered to be the key management personnel of 
Bournville Village Trust:
 Group Trust

 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Remuneration and fees 547 420 547 420
Company contributions to pension schemes 30 33 30 33
Compensation for loss of office 0 9 0 9
Money value of benefits in kind - car allowance 42 32 42 32
    
 619 494 619 494
    

6. EMPLOYEES 

 Group Trust

 2018 2017 2018 2017
 No. No. No. No.
The number of directors to whom retirement  
benefits are accruing under:
Defined contribution schemes 6 4 6 4
Defined benefits schemes 0 1 0 1
    
 6 5 6 5
    

  Highest paid director

   2018 2017
   £’000 £’000

Remuneration   98 142
Company contributions to pension scheme   7 0
    
   105 142
    

The highest paid director in 2018 was the Director of Financial Services. 
This was due to a change of Chief Executive during the year.    Incoming Outgoing
    Chief Chief
    Executive Executive
    
    2018 2017
    £’000 £’000
Remuneration    66 92
Company contributions to pension scheme    4 0
     
    70 92
     

The Trust made no pension contributions in relation to the outgoing Chief Executive. Up until 21st March 2014 
the outgoing Chief Executive was an ordinary member of the Cadbury Pension scheme. After this date the 
outgoing Chief Executive was not a member of any employer pension scheme and BVT made no pension 
contributions in relation to the outgoing Chief Executive. The incoming Chief Executive is a member of the BVT 
Pensionsaver scheme and BVT made pension contributions of £4,000 in 2018.

The Trust pay the Chair of Trustees an honorarium in recognition of the amount of time spent undertaking 
work for the Trust. No other payments are made to Trustees other than expenses.

Trustee payments comprise of:
    2018 2017
    £ £

Trustee honorarium    900 900
Trustee expenses    0 0
     
    8,086 9,306
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

7A. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS - HOUSING PROPERTIES

(predominantly freehold) - Group

 Housing Shared Properties 2018  
 properties ownership in the Total  
 held for properties course of
 letting  construction
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cost 
At 1 January 177,263 7,208 2,895 187,366
Additions 0 0 1,797 1,797
Component replacements and improvements 1,917 0 0 1,917
Properties acquired 1,112 0 0 1,112
Component disposals (635) 0 0 (635)
Property disposals (11) (174) 0 (185)
Transfer to income and expenditure account 0 0 (138) (138)
Transfer to other fixed assets 0 0 (1,100) (1,100)
Transfer to current assets 0 0 (1,100) (1,100)
Transfer to housing held for letting 683 0 (683) 0
     
At 31 December 180,071 7,034 2,771 189,876
      

Depreciation and impairment 
At 1 January (27,439) (623) 0 (28,062)
Charge for year (3,407) (72) (576) (4,055)
Component disposals 373 0 0 373
Property disposals 3 9 0 12
Transfer to other fixed assets 43 0 0 43

    
At 31 December (30,427) (686) (576) (31,689)
     
 
NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2018 149,644 6,348 2,195 158,187
    

At 31 December 2017 149,824 6,585 2,895 159,304

In 2018 BVT identified a Commercially let property in Shropshire that had depreciation incorrectly allocated.  
To correct this we have added £533,000 to the 2018 depreciation charge. BVT also impaired the carrying value  
of land held at College Green to recognise the agreed value of a pending lease arrangement. This impairment 
was £576,000.

7A. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS - HOUSING PROPERTIES

(predominantly freehold) - Trust

 Housing Shared Properties 2018  
 properties ownership in the Total  
 held for properties course of
 letting  construction
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cost 
At 1 January 166,235 7,208 2,895 176,338
Additions 0 0 1,797 1,797
Component replacements and improvements 1,665 0 0 1,665
Properties acquired 1,112 0 0 1,112
Component disposals (570) 0 0 (570)
Property disposals (11) (174) 0 (185)
Transfer to income and expenditure account 0 0 (138) (138)
Transfer to other fixed assets (258) 0 (1,100) (258)
Transfer to current assets 0 0 (1,100) (1,100)
Transfer to housing held for letting 683 0 (683) 0
     
At 31 December 168,856 7,034 2,771 178,661
      

Depreciation and impairment 
At 1 January (27,871) (623) 0 (25,494)
Charge for year (3,164) (72) (576) (3,812)
Component disposals 333 0 0 333
Property disposals 3 9 0 12
Transfer to other fixed assets 43 0 0 43

    
At 31 December (27,656) (686) (576) (28,918)
     
 
NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2018 141,200 6,348 2,195 149,743
    

At 31 December 2017 141,364 6,585 2,895 150,844

In 2018 BVT identified a Commercially let property in Shropshire that had depreciation incorrectly allocated.  
To correct this we have added £533,000 to the 2018 depreciation charge. BVT also impaired the carrying value  
of land held at College Green to recognise the agreed value of a pending lease arrangement. This impairment  
was £576,000.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

7A. EXPENDITURE ON WORKS TO EXISTING PROPERTIES

 Group Trust

 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Improvement work capitalised 57 98 25 73
Component capitalised 1,860 2,726 1,640 2,533
Amounts charged to income and expenditure 5,621 5,870 5,234 5,568
    
 7,538 8,694 6,899 8,174
    

TOTAL GRANTS RECEIVED 

 Group Trust

 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Total cumulative amounts received  
or receivable at 31 December: 

Capital grant 36,083 36,381 35,129 35,427
    

FINANCE COSTS 

 Group Trust

 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Aggregate amount of finance costs 
included in the cost of housing properties
and communal areas in note 7b 2,800 2,800 2,800 2,800

    
 2,800 2,800 2,800 2,800
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

8. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

Group - Cost 
 Interest Investment Total  
Service Service    in Subsidiary
 Reserve 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 

At 1 January 2018 1,044 0 1,044  
Interest credited 4 0 4  
    
At 31 December 2018 1,048 0 1,048  
   

Trust - Cost 
 Interest Investment Total  
 Service in Subsidiary
 Reserve 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 

At 1 January 2018 1,044 8,400 9,444  
Interest credited 4 0 4  
    
At 31 December 2018 1,048 8,400 9,448  
   

9. PROPERTIES FOR SALE  

Group & Trust   2018 2017
   £’000 £’000

Shared ownership properties   0 61
Properties expected to be sold in the current year   537 790
Land expected to be sold in the current year   1,100 0
    
   1,637 851
    

10. STOCK  

Group   2018 2017
   £’000 £’000

Materials and consumables   6 141
Work in progress   1,581 1,922
    
   1,587 2,063
    

Trust

    
Materials & consumables   6 141
    

11. DEBTORS

 Group Trust
 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Amounts falling due within one year:

Gross Rental Arrears 
Housing 957 1,045 910 991
Non-housing 407 379 407 379
Market rented 10 10 10 10
Supported housing 53 109 53 109
Shared ownership 2 2 2 2
 
Less: Provision for bad and doubtful debts (485) (483) (484) (481)
    
 944 1,062 898 1,010
  

Balance due from group undertakings 0 0 2,338 2,267
Prepayments and accrued income 197 177 197 177
Other debtors 1,277 739 1,013 714
    
 2,418 1,978 4,446 4,168
    

12. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE  
WITHIN ONE YEAR Group Trust

 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Bank loans (note 17) 3,559 3,555 3,559 3,555
Rent and service charges received in advance 487 388 464 371
Recycled capital grant funds (note 14) 89 74 86 71
Deferred capital grants (note 15) 326 326 318 318
Trade creditors 157 222 157 211
Balances due to managed associations 677 502 677 502
Balance due to group undertakings 0 0 1,700 1,258
Other taxation and social security costs 164 189 164 189
VAT 193 160 193 160
Other creditors 189 187 189 187
Accruals and deferred income 2,852 3,062 2,104 2,387
    
 8,693 8,665 9,611 9,209
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

13. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER  
MORE THAN ONE YEAR

 Group Trust

 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Debt (note 17) 93,971 97,530 93,971 97,530
Loan arrangement fees (890) (963) (890) (963)
Deferred income 615 718 615 718
Recycled Capital Grant Fund (note 14) 27 27 27 27
Deferred capital grant (note 15) 31,293 31,633 30,497 30,829
    
 125,016 128,945 124,220 128,141
    

Included in creditors are: Group Trust

 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Amounts repayable by instalments falling due in  
less than five years 19,335 19,314 19,335 19,314

Amounts repayable by instalments falling due 
after more than five years 58,194 61,771 58,194 61,771

Amounts repayable other than by instalments 
falling due after more than five years 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 

Less amounts repayable in less than one year (3,559) (3,555) (3,559) (3,555)

    
 93,970 97,530 93,970 97,530
    

14. RECYCLED CAPITAL GRANT FUND

 Group Trust

Funds pertaining to its activities HCA HCA HCA HCA  
within areas covered by: 2018  2017  2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Opening balance Inputs to RCGF:

As at 1 January 101 82 98 79
Grants recycled 15 19 15 19
Interest accrued 0 0 0 0
    

Closing balance 116 101 113 98
     

Amounts 3 years old or older where 
repayment may be required: 75 67 72 64
     

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

15. DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANTS Group Trust

 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 January 31,959 32,587 31,148 31,768  
Grant transferred to other RP 0 (283) 0 (283)
Amortisation in year (326) (326) (318) (318)
Transfer to recycled capital grant fund (15) (19) (15) (19) 
    
As at 31 December 31,618 31,959 30,815 31,148
    

16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Group & Trust    2018 2017

    £’000 £’000
Financial liabilities:
Measured at fair value through profit or loss    
At 1 January    25,914 27,732

Movement during year    (2,436) (1,818)

     
At 31 December    23,478 25,914
     
Interest rate swaps 
The Group has taken out a number of interest rate hedging arrangements as part of the Treasury Management 
Strategy which seeks to achieve a mix of fixed and variable rate loans within the overall portfolio. All of the 
hedging instruments are stand alone interest rate swaps which have been taken out over the last 15 years and 
which have fixed rates of interest varying between 4.14% and 5.81%. At 31 December 2018, the total nominal value of 
interest rate hedging instruments was £53.5m (2017 £57.5m). 

The fair value of these hedging instruments has been calculated by BVT’s Treasury Management advisors, ATFS, 
using proprietary pricing information and analytical software used under licence from Bloomberg Finance LP. The 
fair value is based on the difference between the fixed rate of the swap as against the expected rate of 3m LIBaR 
at each quarterly payment date through to the maturity of each swap.

16A. FINANCIAL ASSETS Group Trust

 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Debt instruments measured at amortised cost 
Rent debtors 1,433 1,545 1,382 1,491  
Other debtors 1,177 895 1,180 898
Cash 2,166 4,636 1,916 4,385
    
 4,776 7,076 4,478 6,774
    
Financial liabilities 

Measured at amortised cost: 
Bank loans 97,529 101,085 97,529 101,085
Trade Creditors 157 222 157 211
Balances Due to Managed Associations 677 502 677 502
Balances Due to Group Companies 0 0 1,700 1,258
Other Creditors 2,121 2,238 1,374 1,559
    
 100,484 104,047 101,437 104,615
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

17. BORROWINGS Group Trust

 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year: 
Bank loans 3,559 3,555 3,559 3,555
    
 3,559 3,555 3,559 3,555

Creditors: amounts falling after more than one year: 
Bank loans 93,971 97,530 93,971 97,530
    
 93,971 97,530 93,971 97,530
     
Total 97,530 101,085 97,530 101,085
    

Housing loans are secured by specific charges on the Group’s housing properties and are repayable at rates 
of interest between 0.82% and 12.86%. The net book value secured to lenders is £49,200,000. 

Of the amounts due in more than five years or more, £20,000,000 (2017: £20,000,000) is wholly repayable by  
lump sum in more than five years. The remainder is repayable by instalments.

18. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES
Group & Trust    2018 2017
    Pension Pension 
    £’000 £’000

As at 1 January    2,992 5,078
Utilised in year    (539) (2,200)
Unwinding of discount    67 114
Increase in payment obligation    0 0  
     
At 31 December    2,520 2,992
     

The pensions deficit payments provision represents the net present value of the commitment to the  
multi-employer Cadbury Mondelez Pension Fund in respect of past deficits. BVT has used a discount rate  
of 2.25% (2017: 2.25%) which approximates market yields for high quality corporate bonds (See note 25).
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

20. INCOME AND EXPENDITURE RESERVE Group Trust

 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 16,972 13,040 17,189 13,670
Surplus for the year 4,139 4,644 3,953 4,231
Transfer to restricted reserves (511) (712) (511) (712)
    
At 31 December 20,600 16,972 20,631 17,189
    

21. RECONCILIATION OF SURPLUS (DEFICIT) TO NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 
 Group Trust
 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Surplus (deficit) for the year 4,139 4,644 3,953 4,231
Adjustments for:
Impairment 714 0 714 0
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 4,357 3,872 4,089 3,615 
Amortisation of capital grant  (326) (326) (318) (318)
Surplus on sale of tangible fixed assets  (1,055)  (1,172)  (1,055)  (1,172)
Interest receivable  (30)  (178)  (221)  (346)
Interest and financing costs  4,542  4,916  4,552  4,919
Movement in value of financial instruments  (2,436)  (1,818)  (2,436)  (1,818)
    

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital  9,905  9,938  9,278  9,111

Movement in stocks  537  (71 )  196  (34)
Movement in debtors  (439)  241  (277)  158
Movement in creditors  (724)  (1,684)  (792)  (1,880)
    
Cash generated from operations 9,279 8,424 8,405 7,355
    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  Group Trust
 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cash and cash equivalents represent:
Cash at bank 2,166 4,636 1,916 4,385
Demand deposits included within creditors falling due in less 
than one year (note 13) (677) (502) (2,377) (1,760)
    
 1,489 4,134 (461) 2,625
    

Demand deposits represent amounts owed to managed associations and group companies.

22. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS  Group Trust
 2018 2017 2018 2017
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided  
for in the financial statements  1,926  3,877  1,926  3,877
    
Expenditure authorised by Trustees but not contracted  2,917  3,591  2,602  3,321
    

The above commitments will be funded through revenue surpluses and capital receipts.

23. OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
Group & Trust    2018 2017
    Pension Pension 
    £’000 £’000

Amounts due:    
Within one year    148 155
Between one and five years    270 288
     
    418 443
     

24. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Up until 31 March 2010, all staff within the Group 
were eligible to join the Cadbury Pension Fund. Until 
July 2001, staff were eligible to join the final salary 
scheme which was a multi employer scheme, but 
was then closed to new entrants. From July 2001, 
new staff were eligible to join the CHOICES pension 
scheme which is also a multi employer scheme 
based on career average earnings. From 1 April 2010, 
new staff are eligible to join the BVT Pensionsaver 
scheme, which is a defined contribution scheme 
set up through Legal & General. 

In April 2016, the Cadbury Pension Fund merged with 
the Mondelez UK Retirement Benefit Plan to form 
the Cadbury Mondelez Pension Fund. The latest 
formal valuation of the fund was undertaken at 5 
April 2016 by a professional qualified actuary using 
the ‘projected unit credit’ method. The fair value of 
the Scheme’s assets at the last valuation date was 
£3,520 million. The valuation revealed that the value 
of the scheme’s assets represents 86.9% of the 
benefits that have accrued to members allowing 
for further increase in earnings. In order to address 
the deficit on the fund, it has been agreed that, in 
addition to increases in employer contributions, 
employers will be required to make additional 
capital contributions. In BVT’s case, this was £2.2 
million in 2017, followed by six annual payments of 
£539,000 through to 2023. 

In the event of a default by other members of the 
fund, BVT could potentially be liable for a share of 
their liabilities. 

For those employees who remain in the final salary 
scheme, the Group paid contributions at the rate of 
39.4% above the NI lower earnings limit (LEL) to 31 st 
March 2017, from April 2017 this rate rose to 47.8% and 
remained at this rate throughout 2018. Employee 
contributions remained at 5% throughout both 2017 
and 2018. 

For those employees in the Cadbury Earnings Plan, 
the Group paid contributions at the rate of 35.4% 
above the NI lower earnings limit to 31st March 2017, 
from April 2017 this rate rose to 45.2% and remained 
at this rate throughout 2018. Employee contributions 
remained at 9% throughout both 2017 and 2018. 

There are three different sections of the CHOICES 
scheme. The Group paid contributions up to a 
maximum of 40.9% of pensionable pay throughout 
the year. Employee contributions ranged from 2% to 
8% throughout the year. 

For the BVT Pensionsaver scheme, the Group paid 
contributions at the rate of 8% of pensionable pay 
for the year, with members contributing as much as 
they liked subject to a minimum contribution of 4% 
of pensionable pay. 

The best estimate of contributions to be paid to 
the schemes for 2019 is £1,049,000 plus the £539,000 
deficit contributions detailed above. 

It is not possible to identify the share of underlying 
assets and liabilities of the Cadbury Mondelez 
Pension Fund belonging to individual participating 
employers. 

Due to the nature of the schemes, the Income 
and Expenditure account charge for the year 
under FRS102 represents the employer contribution 
payable. 

From January 2014, BVT began to auto-enrol its staff 
into a new section of the BVT Pensionsaver scheme. 
Contributions to this new scheme are 3% employee 
contributions and 2% employer contribution (1 % 
January to March 2018). The employer contribution 
will increase to 3% from April 2019.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT FOR BAT RESERVE 
for the year ended 31 December 2018

24. RETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL ASSUMPTIONS 
The financial assumptions underlying the valuation  
of the Cadbury Mondelez Pension Fund were as follows:-

    2018 2017
     % p.a. 
% p.a. 
    £’000 £’000
Discount rate
Pre retirement    4.0 4.0
Post retirement    3.05 3.05
Rate of salary increases    3.95 3.95
CPI Inflation    2.2 2.2
RPI Inflation    3.2 3.2

25 . CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
There are no contingent liabilities known at the balance sheet date. 

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
BVT owns 100% of the issued share capital amounting to £100, of Bournville Village Developments Limited (BVD), 
a company incorporated in England and Wales. BVD is engaged in the co-ordination and construction of an 
urban village at Lightmoor in Telford. BVT helps to fund some of the working capital requirements of BVD and 
has agreed a loan facility for this purpose. As at 31/12/18, the outstanding balance on the loan stood at £2.34m 
(2017 £2.27m). 

Each BVT Trustee owns 1 share out of the total 324 shares in issue of Bournville Works Housing Society Ltd 
(BWHS), a charitable Registered Provider of social housing, registered under the Cooperative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014. BWHS became a subsidiary of BVT in 2011 and in 2016 put in place a coterminous 
board arrangement whereby the Trustees of BVT took over from the BWHS Management Committee. 

Exemption has been taken under FRS1 02 from the requirement to disclose transactions with subsidiaries.

    2018 2017
    £’000 £’000
Income from lettings
rental income    449 438
service charge income    22 21
     
    471 459
   

Interest receivable    14 6
Grant amortisation    9 9
     
    494 474
     

EXPENDITURE
Services    28 27
Management    60 68
Routine maintenance    45 41
Planned maintenance    137 78
Rent (recoveries)/losses from bad debts    0 1
Depreciation of housing properties    55 53
     
    325 268
     

     
Surplus of the year    169 206
     

This page is for the information of the committee only and does not form part of the 
statutory accounts.
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Bournville Village Trust (BVT) is a charity and housing organisation 
founded by chocolate-maker and philanthropist George 
Cadbury in 1900. Our vision is to create and sustain flourishing 
communities where people choose to live and we do this by 
providing high-quality housing and estate management services 
across Birmingham and Telford. Our Board of Trustees has overall 
responsibility for the governance of BVT and use their wealth of 
knowledge and broad experience to ensure we continue to flourish.

To find out more about our Trustees, please visit  
our website bvt.org.uk 

Bournville Village Trust 
350 Bournville Lane, Bournville, 
Birmingham, B30 1QY

Cherry Tree House, 1 Lightmoor Way,  
Lightmoor Village, Telford, TF4 3TX

T 0300 333 6540  
E enquiries@bvt.org.uk

bvt.org.uk
@BVTNews


